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NOTICE AND AGENDA OF THE

DIGITAL TELECOMMUNICATIONS PHILS., INC. will be held at Quezon City 
by way of remote communication through Microsoft Teams (MS Teams) on May 26, 2025, Monday,
at 2:00 P.M.

The Agenda of the Annual Meeting is as follows:

1. Call to Order;
2. Certification by the Corporate Secretary on the sending of notices and existence of

quorum;
3. Approval of Minutes of the Annual Meeting of the Stockholders held on May 27, 2024;
4.
5. Approval of the audited financial statements for the calendar year ended

December 31, 2024;
6. Election of Directors including Independent Directors;
7. Election of External Auditors;
8. Amendment of Section 1, Article II -Laws changing the day of

last Monday of June of every

9. Other Matters; and
10. Adjournment.

Only stockholders as of record date, March 31, 2025, are entitled to vote and be voted during 
the Annual Meeting. 

IF YOU DO NOT EXPECT TO ATTEND THE ANNUAL MEETING, PLEASE EXECUTE 
AND RETURN THE COMPLETED PROXY FORM TO THE ASSISTANT CORPORATE 
SECRETARY AT 10/F SMART TOWER, 6799 AYALA AVENUE, MAKATI CITY 1226. THE 
LAST DAY FOR SUBMISSION OF PROXIES IS ON MAY 21, 2025. SOFT COPIES OF THE 
PROXY FORMS CAN BE EMAILED IN ADVANCE TO jdpeneyra@pldt.com.ph.

Online voting and participation by remote communication will be available for all 
stockholders as of Record Date. Stockholders who wish to vote online and participate by remote 
communication will be required to register by informing the Assistant Corporate Secretary, Joel D. 
Peneyra at 09285590433 or via email at jdpeneyra@pldt.com.ph not later than May 16, 2025.
Stockholders who were not able to register as of May 16, 2025 can no longer avail of online voting 
but may still participate by remote communication, provided such stockholder shall register not later 
than May 21, 2025. Instructions on Registration, Online Voting in Absentia and Participation by 
Remote Communication are set out in Annex A attached to this Notice and Agenda.

Quezon City, Philippines, April 14, 2025.

FOR THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

ATTY. ALEX ERLITO S. FIDER
Corporate Secretary
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SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

SEC FORM 20-IS

INFORMATION STATEMENT PURSUANT TO SECTION 20
OF THE SECURITIES REGULATION CODE

1. Check the appropriate box:
  ] Preliminary Information Statement

[ ] Definitive Information Statement

2. DIGITAL TELECOMMUNICATIONS PHILS., INC.
Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter

3. Quezon City, Metro Manila, Philippines
Province, Country or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization

4. SEC Identification Number  145111

5. BIR Tax Identification No. 000-449-918-000

6. 8003-A Matlino Street, Diliman, Quezon City, Metro Manila 1104
Address of principal office Postal Code

7. (632) 8856-5902

8. May 26, 2025 at 2:00 P.M., at 10/F Smart Tower, 6799 Ayala Avenue, Makati City 1226 for
presiding officer only and virtually via remote communication through MS Teams for
shareholders
Date, time and place of the meeting of the security holders

9. Approximate date on which the Information Statement is first to be published in two
newspapers of general circulation, in print and online format, for two consecutive days
pursuant to SEC Notice dated March 12, 2025: May 2, 2025

10. In case of Proxy Solicitation

Name of Person Filing the Statement/Solicitor Joel D. Peneyra in behalf of the Registrant
Address and Telephone No. 10/F Smart Tower, 6799 Ayala Avenue, Makati City 1226 /
09285590433 / jdpeneyra@pldt.com.ph.

11. Securities registered pursuant to Sections 8 and 12 of the Securities Regulation code, or Sec.
4 and 8 of the then Revised Securities Act.

Title of Each Class Number of Shares of Common Stock Outstanding 

Common stock, P=0.10 par value 26,142,671,992 (as at April 30, 2025)

12. Are any or all of these securities listed on the Philippine Stock Exchange.

Yes [   ]       No [ ]
If yes, disclose the name of such Stock Exchange and the class of securities listed therein: N/A
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GENERAL INFORMATION

corporation incorporated under the laws of the Philippines, with principal office and mailing address 
at 8003-A Matalino St., Diliman, Quezon City. 

Date, Time and Place of Meeting 

The Annual Meeting will be held by way of remote communication through MS Teams on
May 26, 2025, Monday at 2:00 PM. The presiding officer will be at the10/F Smart Tower, 6799 
Ayala Avenue, Makati City 1226. For participation and voting via remote communication, please 
refer to Instructions on Registration, Online Voting in Absentia and Participation by Remote 
Communication set out in Annex A of this Information Statement.

Record Date

The record date for the purpose of determining the stockholders entitled to notice of, and to vote at 
the Annual Meeting is March 31, 2025 (the

Approximate Date of First Release of the Information Statement, Proxy Form and Annual 
Report

Pursuant to SEC Notice dated March 12, 2025, the Notice of Annual Meeting will be published in 
the business section of two newspapers of general circulation in both print and online format on May 
2 and 3, 2025. The Information Statement, Proxy Form, Management Report/Annual Report, SEC 
Form 17-A, and SEC Form 17-Q will be made available upon request at 
DIGITEL_Phil@pldt.com.ph or from the Assistant Corporate Secretary, Joel D. Peneyra via email at 
jdpeneyra@pldt.com.ph beginning on May 5, 2025. The Company will provide, without charge, a 
printed copy of the SEC Form 17-A and SEC Form 17-Q, upon the written request of a stockholder 
addressed to the Assistant Corporate Secretary of the Company at the 10/F Smart Tower, Ayala 
Avenue, Makati City 1226 or you may send to the principal address at 8003-A, Matalino Street, 
Diliman, Quezon City, Philippines.

A stockholder has the right to dissent and demand payment of the fair value of his share in case:  
(1) of any amendment to the articles of incorporation has the effect of changing or restricting the 
rights of any stockholder or of authorizing preference over the outstanding shares or of extending or 
shortening the term of corporate existence; (2) of any sale, lease, exchange, transfer, mortgage, 
pledge or disposition of all or substantially all the corporate properties or assets; (3) of any merger or
consolidation; and (4) of investment of corporate funds for any purpose other than the primary 
purpose of the corporation.

The appraisal right may be exercised by a stockholder who has voted against the proposed corporate 
action, by making written demand on the corporation for the payment of the fair market value of his 
shares within thirty (30) days after the date on which the vote was taken.

Sec 80-85 of Title X on Appraisal Right on the Revised Corporation Code of the Philippines will 
govern the appraisal right of a dissenting stockholder in instances allowed by law. 

The proposed corporate actions to be voted upon at the Annual Meeting are not among the matters 
provided under Section 80 of Republic Act No. 11232 also known as the Revised Corporation Code 
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exercise his appraisal right.

Interest of Certain Persons in Opposition to Certain Matters to be Acted Upon.

No director/independent director or officer or nominee for election as director/independent director 
and, to the best knowledge of the Board of Directors and Management of the Company, no associate 
of any of the foregoing persons has any substantial interest, direct or indirect, by security holdings or 
otherwise in any manner to be acted upon at the Annual Meeting, other than election to office.

No director/ independent director has informed the Company in writing that he intends to oppose any 
action to be taken at the Annual Meeting.

INFORMATION ON SECURITIES AND SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN 
RECORD AND BENEFICIAL OWNERS

Voting Securities and Principal Holders Thereof

The registrant has 26,142,671,992 outstanding shares as of 3 , 2025, all of which are
common shares and each share is entitled to one vote. Of the 26,142,671,992 shares of common 
stock as of 3 , 2025, Record Date, 29,271,888 or 0.11% were owned by foreigners. 

A stockholder entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting shall have the right to vote either by proxy or, 
as approved by the majority of the board of directors, through online voting in absentia. Each share 
is entitled to one vote. For the purpose of election of directors, a stockholder may vote such number 
of shares recorded in his name on the stock and transfer books of the Company as of Record Date, 

, 2025, for as many persons as there are directors to be elected or he may cumulate said 
share and give one candidate as many votes as the number of directors to be elected multiplied by 
the number of his shares shall equal, or he may distribute them on the same principle among as 
many candidates as he shall see fit. 

Security Ownership of Certain Record and Beneficial Owners

The table below sets forth the record owner, the beneficial owner of more than five percent of the 

shareholdings, as of April 30, 2025. 

Title 
of Class

Name and Address
of Record Owner and Relationship 

with the Issuer
Amount and Nature of 

the Beneficial Ownership Citizenship 

Number of
Shares Held 

Record
Percentage 

of Class

Common PLDT Inc. (PLDT) (1)

12th Floor Ramon Cojuangco Bldg.
Makati Avenue, Makati City

P=2,604,327,932
Direct

Filipino 26,043,279,329 99.62

1   PLDT is the parent company of Digitel. PLDT is the leading telecommunications provider in the Philippines. Through its three principal 
business segments wireless, fixed line and others - PLDT offers a large and diverse range of telecommunications services across 

wireless and fixed line networks. 

Based on a resolution adopted by the Board of Directors of the PLDT Inc., the President and Chief 
Executive Officer of PLDT, Manuel V. Pangilinan, has the authority to designate the persons to be 
nominated by PLDT for election as directors in any corporation in which PLDT owns or holds of 

vote the shares of stock or security owned or held by PLDT in any meeting of the stockholders or 
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security holders of the Investee or, as he may deem necessary, to designate/appoint a person he may 
deem fit as proxy or attorney-in-fact, with full power of delegation and substitution to represent and 
vote the shares of stock or security holders of the Investee, and sign in behalf of PLDT any
nomination letter, voting instructions, and proxy form of attorney and other instruments in 
connection with any and all of the foregoing matters and in the exercise of the authority granted to 
the President and CEO. 

Security Ownership of Management:

The following table sets forth the number of shares of common stock owned of record and/or 
beneficially by the directors/independent directors, Chief Executive Officers and executive
officers of the Company, and the percentage of shareholdings of each, as at April 30, 2025:

Title of Number of Amount and Percentage

Nature of 

Name of Record and Address Citizenship Class shares Holdings of Class

Manuel V. Pangilinan Filipino Common 10 P=1 / Direct 0.000000
Chairman of the Board
7/F Ramon Cojuangco Bldg.,
Makati Avenue, Makati City

Alfredo S. Panlilio Filipino Common 10  1 / Direct 0.000000
Director
7/F Ramon Cojuangco Bldg.,
Makati Avenue, Makati City

Danny Y. Yu Filipino Common 10 1 / Direct 0.000000
Director
St. Francis Shangri-la Place Tower 2
St. Francis, Mandaluyong City

Oscar J. Hilado Filipino Common 10 1 / Direct 0.000000
Director
Phinma Building
Rockwell, Makati City

Emerlinda R. Roman Filipino Common 10  1 / Direct 0.000000
Director
41 Kalaw St. Manila Homes
Congressional Ave., 
Quezon City

Lorenzo V. Tan Filipino Common 10 1 / Direct 0.000000
Director
46/F Yuchengco Tower,
RCBC Plaza, Sen G.J. Puyat Ave., 
Makati City

Voting Trust Holders

To the best knowledge of the Board of Directors and Management of the Company, there is no 
person who holds
voting trust or similar agreement.

Change in Control

The Company is not aware of any change in control or arrangement that may result in a change in 
control of the Company since the beginning of its last calendar year.
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DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS

Board of Directors

(a) Board of Directors: The Directors of the Company are elected at the Regular Annual Meeting of 
stockholders to hold office until the next Annual Meeting or until their representative successors
have been elected and qualified.

Nominees for Election as Members of the Board of Directors

-laws, written nominations for election of directors including 
independent directors were submitted by certain stockholders to the Board of Directors through the 
Corporate Secretary not earlier than thirty (30) business days not later than twenty (20) business days
prior to the date of the Annual Meeting. 

The following individuals have been nominated for election as director/independent director at the 
Annual Meeting:  

Name Age Citizenship Period during which individual has served as such

Manuel V. Pangilinan 78 Filipino October 26, 2011 to present
Alfredo S. Panlilio 61 Filipino June 12, 2019 to present
Danny Y. Yu 63 Filipino June 13, 2023 to present
Oscar J. Hilado (1) 86 Filipino May 6, 2013 to present
Emerlinda R. Roman (1) 75 Filipino March 4, 2013 to present
Lorenzo V. Tan 61 Filipino January 27, 2014 to present

(1) Independent director

The nominees for election as independent directors of the Board of Directors on May 26, 2025 are as 
follows:

Nominee for Independent 
Director     

(a)

Person / Group Recommending 
Nomination 

(b)
Relationship of 

(a) and (b)
Emerlinda R. Roman Manuel V. Pangilinan none
Oscar J. Hilado Manuel V. Pangilinan none

The Company is in compliance with the guidelines on the nomination and election of independent 
directors as prescribed by Securities Regulation Code Rule 38, as amended, and as provided for in 

-Laws approved on January 10, 2006.

The Governance and Nomination Committee of the Board of Directors of the Company composed of 
Oscar J. Hilado (independent director) who is the chairman of the committee, and Manuel V. 
Pangilinan and Emerlinda R. Roman (independent director), as members, have determined that each 
of the nominees for election as directors/independent directors at the Annual Meeting, possesses all 

Amended By-Laws and its new Manual on Corporate Governance, which was approved on June 9, 
2020. In addition, the Nomination Committee has determined that each of the independent director-
nominees meets the independence criteria set out in the Securities Regulation Code Rule 38, the 

-Laws, Manual on Corporate Governance and other standards set by the 
Nomination Committee. Mr. Hilado and Dr. Roman did not participate in the deliberation and 
evaluation of their respective qualifications.  In general, they are not officers or employees of the 
Company or any of its subsidiaries, and they are free from any business or any other relationships 
with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which could, or could reasonably be perceived to, 
materially interfere with the exercise of their independent judgment in carrying out their 
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responsibilities as independent directors. Each of them has submitted a Certificate of Qualification as 
required by the SEC.

director/independent director for nominees have the appropriate mix and complementation of 
knowledge, skills, education and professional background and business experiences. Moreover, 
there is a female director and a combination of two (2) independent director nominees, four (4) non-
executive director nominees and two (2) executive director nominees.  These diversity aspects are 
deemed important to have an optimally performing Board, which is essential for the attainment of 

The Code of Corporate Governance for Public Companies and Registered Issuers prescribes a 

companies, reckoned from the year 2012.  The same circular provides, however, that where a 
company wants to retain independent director beyond the Term Limit, the Board should provide 
meritorious justifications and seek shareholder approval during the annual shareholders meeting.  

e provides that in the case stockholders who have a 
legal right to vote for the election of directors desire to re-elect an independent director beyond the 
Term Limit for meritorious justifications, the Company shall uphold the stockholders legal right and
disclose the meritorious justifications for retaining the independent director beyond the Term Limit.

Mr. Oscar J. Hilado and Dr. Emerlinda R. Roman, who have both served as independent directors for 
more than nine (9) consecutive years, were nominated for re-election as independent directors.  In 
accordance with the Code of Corporate Governance for Public Companies and Registered Issuers 

Dr. Emerlinda R. Roman and submitted its recommendation to the Bord, and (b) upon the 
recommendation of the GNC, the Board at its February 27, 2025 meeting resolved to endorse the re-
election of Mr. Oscar J. Hilado and Dr. Emerlinda R. Roman as independent directors at the Annual 
Meeting for the following meritorious justifications based on the factors of integrity and 
independence, diligence, performance and value to the Company:

Mr. Oscar J. Hilado and Dr. Emerlinda R. Roman continue to: (1) meet all the independence 
standards and (2) be independent of Management and free from any business or other relationships 
with the Company, which could or could reasonably be perceived to materially interfere with their 
independent judgment in carrying out their responsibilities as independent directors, and there is no 
evidence that the proposed extension of their tenure would compromise their continued 
independence.

During their tenure as independent directors, both Mr. Oscar J. Hilado and Dr. Emerlinda R. Roman 
have consistently demonstrated their integrity, loyalty, diligence, commitment, challenged 
management in an effective and constructive manner, and attended and participated in all Board and 
Board Committee meetings for the past years

and efficient decision-making process and performance, and it is expected that they will continue to 
bring valuable business experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board.

Pursuant to the Code of Corporate Governance for Public Companies and Registered Issuers and the 

stockholders right to vote for their chosen directors and endorse the re-election of Mr. Oscar J. 
Hilado and Dr. Emerlinda R. Roman at the Annual Meeting.  
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The following is a brief description of the business experiences of each of the nominees for election 
as directors/independent director for the last five years:

Mr. Manuel V. Pangilinan has been a director of Digitel since October 26, 2011 and is concurrently 
the Chairman of the Board of Directors and President and CEO since January 1, 2024.  He is the 
Chairman of the Remuneration and Compensation Committee and Member of the Governance and 
Nomination Committee of the Board of Directors of Digitel.  Mr. Pangilinan is currently the 
Chairman and President and Chief Executive Officer of PLDT, and has been a director of PLDT 
since November 24, 2998.  He also serves as Chairman of Metro Pacific Investments Corporation 

Chairman and CEO of and Chairman of PXP 
Energy Corporation and Philex Mining Corporation, and of several subsidiaries or affiliates of PLDT 
or MPIC, including, among others, Smart, PLDT 

Holdings Inc., Philex Petroleum Corporation, Manila North Tollways Corporation, Maynilad Water 
Services Corporation, Landco Pacific Corporation, Metro Pacific Hospital Holdings, Inc., Medical 
Doctors Incorporated (Makati Medical Center), and Colinas Verdes Corporation (Cardinal Santos 
Medical Center). He is also the Chairman of MediaQuest Holdings Inc., TV5 Network, Inc. and 
PLDT-Smart Foundation.

Exchange-listed company, in 1981 and serves as its Executive Chairman, Managing Director and 
Chief Executive Officer. Within the First Pacific Group, he also holds the position of President 
Commissioner of P.T. Indofood Sukses Makmur Tbk, the largest food company in Indonesia.

Outside the First Pacific Group, Mr. Pangilinan is the Chairman of the Board of Trustees of San 

is also the Chairman of Philippine Business for Social Progress, the largest private sector social 
and a Co-Chairman of the 

Philippine Disaster Resilience Foundation, Inc., a non-stock, non-profit foundation established to 
formulate and implement a reconstruction strategy to rehabilitate and rebuild areas devastated by 
floods and other calamities. 

Mr. Pangilinan graduated cum laude from the Ateneo de Manila University, with a Bachelor of Arts 

School of Finance & Commerce at the University of Pennsylvania, where he was a Procter & 
Gamble Fellow. He was conferred a Doctor of Humanities Degree (Honoris Causa) by the San Beda 
College (2002), Xavier University (2007), Holy Angel University (2009) and Far Eastern University 
(2010).

Mr. Alfredo S. Panlilio has been a director of Digitel since June 12, 2019. He served as President 
and CEO of PLDT from June 8, 2021 and of Smart from August 8, 2019, and held leadership 
positions in the various subsidiaries of PLDT and Smart, until his retirement as President and CEO 
of PLDT and Smart on December 31, 2023. Despite his retirement as President and CEO of PLDT 
and Smart, Mr. Panlilio has remained as a Director of PLDT and Smart, and has continued to hold 
various leadership positions within the PLDT Group as Chairman of Maya Bank, Inc.; and Director 
of Multisys Technologies Corporation and Multipay Corporation. Mr. Panlilio was the Senior Vice 
President and Head of Customer Retail Services and Corporate Communications at Meralco from 
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September 10, 2010 to June 30, 2019. He also held several leadership positions within the Meralco 
Group. 

Mr. Panlilio is a Trustee of the Kapampangan Development Foundation and Philpop Musicfest 

Panlilio is among the founding members under the Digital Infrastructure pillar of the Private Sector 
Advisory Council (PSAC), formed in July 2022. Mr. Panlilio sits as President of the MVP Sports 
Foundation, a Member of the FIBA Central Board, Second Vice President of FIBA Asia Central 
Board, First Vice President of the Philippine Olympic Committee and headed the FIBA Basketball 
World Cup 2023 local organizing committee. He is also the President of the Samahang Basketbol ng 

Golf Association of the Philippines (NGAP) and Director of the Philippine Badminton Association. 

Mr. Panlilio holds a Bachelor of Science Degree in Business Administration (Computer Information 
Systems) from San Francisco State University. He obtained his Master in Business Administration at 
J. L. Kellogg School of Management of Northwestern University and the Hongkong University of 
Science and Technology.

Mr. Danny Y. Yu, has been a director of Digitel since June 13, 2023.  He is currently the PLDT 
Group Chief Financial Officer and Chief Risk Management Officer.  He served as the PLDT Group 
Controller from November 17, 2022 to May 3, 2023 and as Senior Vice President and Chief 
Financial Officer, Chief Governance Officer and Chief Risk Officer of Philex Mining Corporation 
from September 2013 to August 2019, Chief Finance Officer of Digital Telecommunications 
Philippines, Inc. and Digitel Mobile Philippines, Inc. (Sun Cellular) from November 2011 to July 
2013, Chief Financial Officer of ePLDT, Inc. from November 2010 to December 2011, Chief 
Financial Officer of PLDT Global Corporation from June 2004 to November 2010, Chief Financial 
Officer of Mabuhay Satellite Philippines Corporation & Aces Satellite Philippines Corporation from 
March 1999 to May 2004, and Vice President for Corporate Development of Fort Bonifacio 
Development Corporation from March 1997 to March 1999. He started his career at SGV & Co. 
where he was a senior auditor. Mr. Yu graduated Magna Cum Laude from the University of San 
Carlos with a Bachelor of Science in Commerce, Major in Accounting and holds a Master in 
Management from the Asian Institute of Management. He is also a Certified Public Accountant. In 
2016, he was awarded the ING-FINEX CFO of the Year.

Mr. Oscar J. Hilado has been an independent director of Digitel since May 6, 2013. He is the 
Chairman of the Governance and Nomination Committee, and a Member of the Audit Committee 
and Remuneration and Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors of Digitel.  He is 
currently the Chairman of the Board of PHINMA, Inc., Chairman Emeritus of Phinma Corporation, 
and Vice Chairman of Phinma Property Holdings Corp., and Union Galvasteel Corporation. He is a 
director of Philex Mining Corporation, Rockwell Land Corporation, A. Soriano Corporation, Roxas 
Holdings, Inc., Smart Communications Inc., Metro Pacific Investments Corporation, Phil Cement 
Corp., Union Insulated Panel Corp., Phinma Education Holdings, Inc., Araullo University, Cagayan 
de Oro College, University of Iloilo, Inc., University of Pangasinan, Inc., Southwestern University, 
Phinma Hospitality Inc., United Pulp and Paper Company Inc., Seven Seas Resorts & Leisure, Inc., 
Beacon Property Ventures, Inc., and Manila Cordage Company.
Mr. Hilado is a Certified Public Accountant with a Bachelor of Science Degree in Commerce from 

Business School.

Dr. Emerlinda R. Roman has been an independent director of Digitel since March 4, 2013. She is 
the Chairman of the Audit Committee and a Member of the Governance and Nomination Committee 
and Remuneration and Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors of Digitel. She is 
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currently the Chair of the Board of Advisers of Manila Tytana Colleges.  She is also an independent 
director of PXP Energy Corporation and Smart Communications, Inc. and a director of One Meralco 

serving from 2005 to 2011, but also its first woman president.  She also served as chancellor of the 
UP Diliman campus from 1991 to 1993 and from 1999 to 2004, vice chancellor for administration, 
secretary of the university and of the Board of Regents, vice president for administration, and 
member of the Board of Regents representing the faculty.  Dr. Roman obtained her Bachelor of 
Science Degree in Agriculture from the University of the Philippines, Los Baños in 1972 and her

Diliman in 1977 and 1989, respectively.   

Mr. Lorenzo V. Tan has been a director of Digitel since January 27, 2014. He is a Member of the 
Audit Committee of the Board of Directors of Digitel and a member of Audit and Risk Committee 
for Smart. Mr. Tan is a Director and President and Chief Executive Officer of House Investments, 
Inc. Mr. Tan is also serving as Director of Smart Comminications, Inc., EEI Corp., Sunlife Grepa 
Financial, Inc., Malayan Insurance Company, Inc., Manila Memorial Park Cemetery, Inc.,
PetroEnergy Corporation, iPeople Inc., and Hi-Eisai Pharmaceutical Inc. He is also the Director, 
President and CEO of RCBC Realty Corporation and San Lorenzo Ruiz Investment and Holdings 
Services, Inc., and a Director of Alphaland Development Corporation. He holds the Vice
Chairmanship of the Pan Malayan Management and Investment Corporation, and TOYM
Foundation. Member of the Board of Trustees at De La Salle Zobel.

His past experiences include: President and CEO of Rizal Commercial Banking Corporation. Prior
to that, he also served as the President and CEO of Sun Life of Canada (Philippines), Inc., the
Philippine National Bank, and the United Coconut Planters Bank, and Managing Director of 
Primeiro Partners. He was the Chief Executive Officer and President of Rizal Commercial Banking 
Corp. until May 2016. He served as Chairman of the Asian Bankers Association from 2012 to 2014, 
President of the Bankers Association of the Philippines (BAP) from 2013 to March 14, 
2016. As BAP President, he leads the Association in representing the BAP in the ASEAN Bankers 
Association, composed of the national banking associations from the 10-member countries in the 
Association of Southeast Asian Nations. He was a former Director of Philrealty Holdings and 
Investment Corp.

(b) Executive Officers

The incumbent officers of the Company as at April 30, 2025, all of whom will be nominated for 
re-election at the Organizational Meeting of the Board of Directors following the Annual Meeting 
are as follows: 

Name Age Position Period during which individual has 
served as such

Manuel V. Pangilinan 78 Chairman of the Board LEC/CMTS October 26, 2011 to August 6, 2012
May 25, 2015 to present

Manuel V. Pangilinan 78 President and CEO LEC/CMTS January 1, 2024 to present

Jerone H. Tabanera 46 Chief Financial Officer LEC May 30, 2022 to present
Danny Y. Yu 63 Chief Financial Officer CMTS June 13, 2023 to present
Leo I. Posadas 58 Treasurer LEC/CMTS May 29, 2017 to present
Alex Erlito S. Fider 71 Corporate Secretary LEC/CMTS January 27, 2014 to present

The other officers of Digitel including their business experiences for the last five years are the 
following:

Jerone H. Tabanera is the Chief Financial Officer of LEC Business Unit since May 30, 2022 and is 
concurrently the Head of Financial Reporting of PLDT. Prior to joining PLDT in June 2011, he was 
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a Manager at Punongbayan & Araullo (the Philippine member firm of Grant Thornton International 
Ltd.). Mr. Tabanera is a Certified Public Accountant and also passed the examination for Certified 
Internal Audit (CIA) and for Certified Information Systems Audit (CISA). He received his Bachelor 
of Science Degree in Accountancy from Holy Name University of Tagbilaran.

Mr. Leo I. Posadas is the Treasurer of LEC and CMTS Business Units since May 29, 2017 and is 
concurrently the Treasurer of the PLDT Group and concurrent Treasury Head of PLDT and Smart. 
He also handles the treasury management and treasury operations of several companies under the 
PLDT Group. He is a director and Chief Financial Officer of PLDT Global Corporation, a director 
and Treasurer of PLDT Global Investments Holdings, a director of PLDT Communication and 
Energy Ventures, a director of Philstar and Businessworld, a director and Vice President for 
Treasury of Mabuhay Investments Corporation, and the Treasurer of the Vega Telecom group. He is 
also the Treasurer of Smart, ePLDT, Digitel Mobile, PLDT-Smart Foundation and several other 
subsidiaries of PLDT and Smart. Prior to joining PLDT in September 2000, he served as Treasury 
Manager of Total Petroleum Philippines, and as Manager for Foreign Exchange Management of San 
Miguel Corporation. Mr. Posadas received his Bachelor of Arts Degree in Economics and Bachelor 
of Science Degree in Commerce Major in Management of Financial Institutions from the De La 
Salle University.

Alex Erlito S. Fider is the Corporate Secretary of LEC and CMTS Business Units since
January 27, 2014. He is currently a senior partner of Picazo Buyco Tan Fider & Santos Law Offices. 
Atty. Fider is a corporate legal practitioner with expertise in the fields of telecommunications, real 
estate, corporate finance and investments. He is a director of Roxas Holdings, Inc. and a member of 
the Audit & Risk Committee. He is the Corporate Secretary of Metro Pacific Tollways Corporation, 
Metro Pacific Tollways Development Corporation, Manila North Tollways Corporation, Tollways 
Management Corporation, Smart and Maynilad. He is actively involved in the Financial Executive 
Institute of the Philippines (FINEX) and the Institute of the Corporate Directors of which is he is a 
Fellow. Atty. Fider graduated from the University of the Philippines with Degrees in Economics and 
Law.

Significant Employees

As of April 30, 2025, the Company has no employee who is not an executive officer but is
expected to make a significant contribution to the business. 

Family Relationships

None of the Directors, key officers and advisors of the Company has any family relationship up to 
the fourth civil degree either by consanguinity or affinity. 

Involvement of Directors and Officers in Certain Legal Proceedings

The Company is not aware, and none of the directors/independent directors and officers of the 
persons nominated for election to such positions has informed the Company, of any of the following 
events that occurred during the past five (5) years and up to the date of this Information Statement:
(a) any bankruptcy petition filed by or against any business of which a director/independent director 
or officer or person nominated for election as a director/independent director or officer was a general 
partner or executive officer either at the time of the bankruptcy or within two years prior to that time; 
(b) any conviction by final judgment in a criminal proceeding, domestic or foreign, or any criminal 
proceeding, domestic or foreign, pending against any director or officer, except as noted below; (c) 
any order, judgment, or decree, not subsequently reversed, suspended or vacated, of any court of 
competent jurisdiction, domestic or foreign , permanently or temporarily enjoining, barring, 
suspending or otherwise limiting the involvement of any director/independent director or officer or 
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person nominated for election as a director/independent director or officer in any type of business, 
securities, commodities or banking activities; and (d) any finding by a domestic or foreign court of 
competent jurisdiction (in a civil action), the SEC or comparable foreign body, or a domestic or 
foreign exchange or electronic marketplace or sell regulatory organization, that any 
director/independent director or officer or person nominated for election as director/independent 
director of officer, has violated a securities or commodities law or regulation, and the judgment has 
not been reversed, suspended or vacated.

The Company is not a party to, nor is its properties the subject of, any significant pending legal 
proceeding that could be expected to have a material adverse effect on the Company or its business, 
financial condition and results of operations.

Relationships and Related Transactions

Except for the transactions discussed in Note 20 Related Party Transactions to the accompanying 
audited consolidated financial statements as attached as Annex B in this statement, there were no 
other material related party transactions during the last two financial years, nor are there any material 
transactions currently proposed, to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was or is to be a 
party in which any incumbent director/independent director or executive officer of the Company  or 
any person nominated for election to such positions, or any owner of more than 10% of the 

foregoing, had or is to have a direct or indirect material interest. In the ordinary course of business, 
the Company has transactions with other companies in which some of such persons or former 
officers of the Company or its subsidiaries may have an interest, but these transactions have been 

No director/independent director or officer of the Company or associate of any director/independent 
director or officer of the Company was indebted to the Company at any time during the past two 
years.

Resignation of Directors

To date, no director has resigned from or declined to stand for re-election to the Board since the       
May 27, 2024 Annual Stockholders Meeting of the Company due to any disagreement with the 
Company relating to its operations, policies and practices.

Appraisal and Preformance of the Board

For the year 2024, the Board of Directors of the Company conducted seven (7) meetings, with the 
following directors in attendance, to wit:
.

Name of Director Mar 
21

May 
9

May 
27*

Aug
13

Nov
12

Dec
3

Dec
12

Total

Oscar J. Hilado 1 / / / / / / / 7/7
Manuel V. Pangilinan / / X / / / / 6/7
Alfredo S. Panlilio / / / / / / / 7/7
Emerlinda R. Roman 1 / / / / / / / 7/7
Lorenzo V. Tan / X / / / / / 6/7
Danny Y. Yu / / / / / / / 7/7

1 Independent directors
and Organizational Meeting of the Board

/ Present
X Absent



11

The Board has established committees to assist in exercising its authority in monitoring the 
performance of the Company in accordance with its Revised Corporate Governance Manual and 
Code of Business Conduct and Ethics.  The Governance and Nomination Committee of the 
Company oversees the performance evaluation of the Board and its committees and management.  

The level of compliance of Digitel to the provisions of the Code of Corporate Governance for Public
Companies and Registered Issuers for the period beginning January 1 to December 31, 2024 will be 
disclosed in its Annual Corporate Governance Report to be submitted to the Commission on or 
before June 30, 2025, pursuant to SEC Memorandum Circular No. 13 series of 2021.

Compensation of Directors and Executive Officers

compensation table of the executive officers of the Corporation follows:

SUMMARY OF COMPENSATION TABLE
Annual Compensation

Information as to the aggregate compensation paid or accrued including 13th month pay and bonuses 
during the last two fiscal years and the projected aggregate compensation to be paid for the current 
fiscal year for all other officers and directors.

Name and Position Year

Regular 
Compensation
(in millions)

13th Month 
and Bonuses
(in millions)

a. Manuel V. Pangilinan
Chairman of the Board of Directors CMTS and LEC

b. Alfredo S. Panlilio
President and Chief Executive Officer CMTS and LEC

c. Jerone H. Tabanera
Chief Finance Officer CMTS

d. Leo I. Posadas
Treasurer MTS and LEC

Actual 2023 P=- P=-
Actual 2024 - -
Projected 2025 - -

officers do not receive compensation from the . They receive compensation from the ultimate parent, PLDT.

Compensation of Directors

 the independent and non-management 
of 50,000 for each Board of Directors meeting attended. In addition, the independent and         
non-management directors who serve in the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors are entitled 
to a fee of 30,000

Dr. Emerlinda R. Roman, Mr. Oscar J. Hilado (independent directors) and Mr. Lorenzo V. Tan (non-
management director) received during the year amounting to P=620,000, P=510,000 and
P=570,000, respectively.

Except for the fees mentioned above, the directors/independent directors are not compensated, 
directly or indirectly, for their services as such directors/independent directors.
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Compensation of Officers

Warrants and Options Outstanding

There are no outstanding warrants and options held by Directors and Officers.

Independent Public Accountant

The accounting firm of Sycip Gorres Velayo & Co. (SGV) with address at SGV Building, 6760 

past years. In compliance with the five-year rotation and the two-year cooling-off period 
requirements with respect to independent auditors, as provided under the applicable laws and rules, 
Roel E. Lucas from SGV took over as the new lead engagement /audit partner with the primary 

2018. Ramon D. Dizon 
was the audit partner in 2017.

There has been no disagreement between the Company and said accounting firm with regard to any 
matter relating to accounting principles or practices, financial statement disclosure or auditing scope
or procedure. SGV is expected to be represented in the coming Annual Meeting with an opportunity 
to make any statement, if they so desire, and will be available to respond to appropriate questions.

SGV is being recommended for re-election at the scheduled Annual Meeting for almost the same 
remuneration as in the previous year.

Audit and Audit-Related Fees

amounted to P=1.2 million each for 2024 and 2023.

The fees presented above includes out-of-
work, amount of which do not exceed 5% of the agreed-upon engagement fees.

The audit committee is composed of Dr. Emerlinda R. Roman (independent director) who chairs the 
committee, Mr. Oscar J. Hilado (independent director) and Mr. Lorenzo V. Tan, as members. The 
audit committee has an existing policy to review the audit and non-audit services, if any, rendered by 
the independent auditors. It includes the review and evaluation of audit plans, scope and results prior 
to Board approval and ensures that the services rendered does not prejudice or impair the 
independence of the external auditors.

Employment Contract & Termination of Employment & Change-in-Control Arrangement

There are no special employment contracts with executive officers.  Hiring of corporate officers are 
conducted based on general policies on recruitment.

Digitel and DMPI, prior to its conversion to defined contribution plan effective January 1, 2018,

employees.  Retirement costs are separately determined using the projected unit credit method.  This 
method reflects services rendered by employees to the date of valuation and incorporates 



13

There is no compensatory act other than the legally mandated retirement plan under the Social 
Security Act.

FINANCIAL AND OTHER INFORMATION

Modification or Exchange of Securities

On April 12, 2012 the Board of Directors approved the succeeding amendments to Article Seventh 
of the Amended Articles of Incorporation. The first amendment consists of the increase in the 
authorized capital stock from P=25,000,000,000 divided into 25,000,000,000 common shares with par 
value of P=1.00 per share to P=29,500,000,000 divided into 29,500,000,000 common shares with par 
value of P=1.00 per share. Following aforesaid increase, another amendment to Article Seventh of the 
Amended Articles of Incorporation was made to decrease the authorized capital stock from
P=29,500,000,000 divided into 29,500,000,000 with a par value of P=1.00 to P=2,950,000,000 divided 
into 29,500,000,000 shares with a par value of P=0.10 per share.

capital stock and the subsequent decrease in the authorized capital stock of the Company.  On 
September 11, 2012, the Philippine SEC approved the above transactions.

Information Required

a) The General Nature and Scope of the 
Financial Condition and Results of Operations for 2024, Holders and Dividends,
Compliance with the Corporate Governance Manual and Undertaking to provide Annual

b) The audited consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2024 are attached hereto
ent of

Management Responsibility.

Legal Proceedings

Except as disclosed in Note 24 Commitments and Contingencies to the accompanying consolidated 
financial statements in Annex B, neither Digitel nor any of its subsidiaries is a party to, and none of
their respective properties is subject to, any pending legal proceedings that Digitel considers to be 

Voting Procedures

Only stockholders as of Record Date are entitled to vote and be voted during the Annual Meeting.

Vote Requirement

1. For the approval of minutes of annual meeting of stockholders held on May 27, 2024:

Majority of the outstanding capital stock of the Company are entitled to vote.

2. For the approval of the audited financial statements for the calendar year ended
December 31, 2024:

Majority of the outstanding capital stock of the Company are entitled to vote.
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3. For the election of Directors including the Independent Directors:

Six (6) nominees receiving the highest number of votes shall be declared elected and two (2) of 
them who have been pre-qualified as independent directors will be declared as such.

4. For the election of External Auditors

The nominee receiving the highest votes shall be declared as elected.

5. -Laws 
changing the day of when to hold the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to June

Majority of the outstanding capital stock of the Company are entitled to vote.

Method by which vote will be counted

Voting will be by means of written voting instructions (printed proxy form), or online voting in 
absentia submitted by, and taking into account the number of shares which, the stockholders present 
or represented by proxy at the Annual Meeting and entitled to vote thereat own directly or for which 
they hold proxies.

Counting of votes will be done by the Corporate Secretary or his authorized representative(s) with 
the assistance of the representative(s) of SGV. All votes attaching to the shares of stock owned by 
stockholders whose proxies were received by the Company will be cast in accordance with the 
voting instructions given or authority granted under the proxies.

Participation through remote communication

A stockholder who has successfully registered on or before May 16, 2025 can vote online and 
participate in the Annual Meeting by remote communication via Microsoft Teams (MS Teams).
Stockholders who were not able to register as of May 16, 2025 can no longer avail online voiting but 
may still participate by remote communication, provided such stockholder shall register not later 
than May 21, 2025. Instruction on the registration, online voting in absentia and participation by 
remote communication is attached to this report in Annex C.

The Company will provide without charge to each person solicited, upon the written request of any 
-A and SEC Form 

17-Q. Such written request should be directed to the Assistant Corporate Secretary, Digital 
Telecommunications Phils., Inc., 9/F PLDT Makati General Office Building, Dela Rosa Street, 
Legazpi Village, Makati City, Philippines.

Action with Respect to Reports

1. Approval of minutes of annual meeting of stockholders held on May 27, 2024.

2. Approval of the financial statements for the calendar year ended December 31, 2024.

Regular Meeting of Stockholders

The matters approved and recorded in the Minutes of the Annual Meeting of the Shareholders last 
May 27, 2024 are as follows: 
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1. Certification of Notice and Quorum (26,043,279,329 shares representing 99.62% of the
outstanding Common Stock as of the Record Date, March 31, 2024)

2. Approval of the Minutes of the Annual Meeting of Stockholders held on May 29, 2023;

3. Approval of the Audited Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2023;

4. Election of Board of Directors, including Independent Directors; Manuel V. Pangilinan,
Alfredo S. Panlilio, Lorenzo V. Tan, Danny Y. Yu, Oscar J. Hilado (independent director)
and Emerlinda R. Roman (independent director)

5. Election of External Auditor;

The Annual Meeting of the Shareholders was held on May 27, 2024 via remote communication and 
was attended by shareholders, the Board of Directors, and various officers of the Corporation. The 
shareholders were allowed to vote on each agenda item presented to them for approval, with the 
number of votes approving each agenda item indicated in their respective sections in the Minutes. 
The shareholders were also given the opportunity through electronic mail to ask questions, express 
opinion, and make suggestions on various issues related to the Corporation. In compliance with 
Section 49 of the Revised Corporation Code, the Minutes of the Annual Meeting of the Shareholders 
held on May 27, 2024 contain the following: (a) a description of the voting and tabulation 
procedures used in the meeting, (b) a description of the opportunity given shareholders to ask 
questions and a description of the nature of the questions asked and answers given, (c) matters 
discussed and resolutions reached, (d) a record of the voting results for each agenda item, and (e) a 
list of the directors and shareholders who attended the meeting. The Minutes of the Annual Meeting 
of the Shareholders held on May 27, 2024 is attached. 

Brief description of material matters approved by the Board of Directors and Management in 2024
are as follows:

Date of Board Approval Description

March 21, 2024 Approved the following audited financial statements for the year
ended December 31, 2023, to wit: (1) Audited Consolidated Financial
Statements of Digital Telecommunications Phils., Inc. and
subsidiaries, (2) Audited Financial Statements of Digital
Telecommunications Phils., Inc.; and (3) Audited Financial
Statements of Digitel Mobile Phils., Inc.

DMPI Board approved the declaration of cash dividends to DTPI in the
amount of Php1,000mn payable on or before April 20, 2024

remote communication through Microsoft Teams (MS Teams) and set
the Record Date as March 31, 2024

May 9, 2024
DMPI Board approved the declaration of cash dividends to DTPI in the 
amount of Php4000mn payable on or before August 9, 2024

May 27, 2024 Results of Annual Meeting of Shareholders
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Results of Organizational Meeting of the Board of Directors including
appointment of Chairpersons and Members of Board Committees and
officers of the Company

August 13, 2024 Activities for 2Q 2024.
DMPI Board approved the declaration of cash dividends to DTPI in the 
amount of Php425mn payable on or before November 13, 2024

November 12, 2024 Approved the Audit Committee Report of Activities for Q3
2024
DMPI Board of Directors approved to declare cash dividends to
DTPI in the amount of Php400mn, payable on or before
November 12, 2025.
DTPI and DMPI Boards approved the Amended Code of Business

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (approved by the PLDT
Board on Sep. 17, 2024).
DMPI Board approved the renewal of rebranding agreements
between DMPI and Smart Communications Inc., and execution
of the necessary Management Service Agreement and
Trademark License Agreement

December 3, 2024 Update of signatories for DTPI and DMPI

December 12, 2024 Approved the budgets of Digital Telecommunications Phils., Inc. and
Digitel Mobile Phils., Inc. for the year 2025

After reasonable inquiry and to the best of my knowledge and belief, I certify that the
information set forth in this report is true, complete and correct. This report is signed in Makati 
City on  , 2025.

DIGITAL TELECOMMUNICATIONS PHILS., INC.

ATTY. ALEX ERLITO S. FIDER
Corporate Secretary
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ANNEX A

MANAGEMENT REPORT

A. General Nature and Scope of the Business

Established in the Philippines in August 31, 1987, Digitel was registered with the Philippine SEC 
and was enfranchised to provide domestic and international telecommunications services nationwide.  
On October 26, 2011, PLDT acquired a controlling stake in Digitel from JG Summit Holdings, Inc. 
and certain related parties of the latter and initiated a tender offer to acquire remaining non-
controlling interest.  As at December 31, 2024, PLDT owned approximately 99.6% of the 
outstanding common stock of Digitel.

Digitel ceased operating as a public telecommunications entity effective February 17, 2019, the 

Telecommunications Phils, Inc., A Franchise To Install, Operate And Maintain Telecommunications 

We monitor the results of each business unit separately for purposes of making decisions about 
resource allocation and performance assessment. See Note 4 Operating Segment Information to the 

Wireless 

Our wireless arm, DMPI, has consolidated its processes with Smart Communications, Inc. (Smart) to 
be able to provide better service to our subscriber base.  Major processes were aligned with Smart to 
further enhance business partnering, maximize efficiencies in the current workforce and magnify the 
advantage of the combined networks.

subscriber base (both individual and corporate) including all of its assets, rights and obligations 
directly or indirectly connected to its postpaid cellular and broadband operations effective 
November 1, 2018 with the effectivity date of the transfer, the remaining business of DMPI pertains 
to its prepaid mobile operation.

On October 21, 2020, Smart and DMPI entered into a Rebranding Agreement wherein Sun Prepaid 
subscribers were rebranded as Smart Prepaid subscribers. Post-rebranding, the ownership of Sun 
Prepaid subscribers remains under DMPI. Under the terms of the agreement, Smart settles a fixed fee 

In April 2022, we implemented the rebranding of Individual Sun Postpaid into Smart Postpaid. Sun 
subscribers retained their existing Sun numbers, SIM and plan inclusions while enjoying the services 
and perks of a Smart subscriber such as Smart 5G, access to GigaLife App, Smart notifications and 
billing, and other Smart add-ons and features. The subscribers may also avail of the Signature plan 
which provides a better experience, access to mobile network, better plan packages 
and latest devices.

The brand consolidation under Smart aims to strengthen market position, achieve cost-efficiency and 

subscribers.
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The integrated wireless network that Smart and DMPI provide is extensive voice and broadband 
coverage in the Philippines, covering substantially all of major metropolitan areas and most of the 
other population centers in the Philippines.  Our low spectrum band resources are primarily used to 
provide coverage whilst higher spectrum bands provide coverage and additional capacity.  Our 
wireless broadband network supports HSPA+, LTE-Advanced, and 5G to provide an improved data 
experience for our customers.

Fixed Line

Fixed line business which offered voice, data and miscellaneous services, was carried by the Parent 
Company, Digitel.  Our fixed line subscribers were all migrated to the network of PLDT as of 
January 2018.

On July 1, 2013, Digitel entered into an agreement to sell its subscription assets to PLDT for a total 
cost of approximately P=5.3 billion. The agreement covered the transfer, assignment and conveyance 

ensure uninterrupted availability of services to Digitel subscribers, until full migration of said 
subscribers to the PLDT network. The transaction was in line with the commitment to increase the 

efficiencies within the PLDT Group.  A FLA was exe

who had yet to be migrated to the PLDT network.  Following the migration of all our fixed line 
subscribers as of January 2018, the FLA with PLDT was terminated in November 2018.

Digitel ceased operating as a public telecommunications entity effective February 17, 2019.

B.
for 2024

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be 
read in conjunction with our audited consolidated financial statements and the related notes as at     
December 31, 2024 and 2023 and for the four years ended December 31, 2024 included elsewhere 
in this Annual Report. This discussion contains forward-looking statements that reflect our current 
views with respect to future events and our future financial performance.  These statements involve 
risks and uncertainties, and our actual results may differ materially from those anticipated in these 
forward-looking statements.

Selected Financial Data and Key Performance Indicators
(In millions, except EBITDA margin, basic/dilutive earnings per share)

Years ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

Income Statement Data:
Revenues P=6,333 P=7,106 P=7,203
Expenses 3,275 3,634 3,874
Other income 131 1,037 3,063
Income before income tax 3,189 4,509 6,392
Net income 2,628 3,777 5,195
Core income 2,593 3,215 2,213
EBITDA 3,359 3,781 3,642
EBITDA margin (1) 53% 53% 51%
Basic/dilutive earnings per common share 0.10 0.14 0.20
Other Data:
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 2,341 2,676 (4,967)
Net cash provided by investing activities 220 824 5,271

Capital expenditures 
Net cash used in financing activities (2,604) (3,500) (359)



19

Years ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

Operational Data:
Number of employees 1 1 1

Wireless
Fixed line 1 1 1

(1) EBITDA margin for the period is measured as EBITDA divided by service revenues. 

Overview

Digitel was one of the major providers of wireline communication systems in Luzon Island.  In 
September 2001, Digitel established a wholly-owned subsidiary, DMPI, to provide wireless 
telecommunication services in the Philippines.  DMPI is one of the Philip
telecommunications companies. We have organized our business into business units based on our 
products and services and have two reportable operating segments which serve as the basis for 

d evaluate operating performance:

Wireless Wireless communication services are composed of distributed subscriber revenues
and facility service fees. This consists of the Rebranding Agreement with Smart for fees

proportionate share on the distributed subscriber revenues and
reimbursement by Smart for certain network related charges.; and

Fixed Line fixed line segment is carried by the Parent Company. As at January 1, 2018,
Digitel fully migrated its subscribers to the PLDT network.

Key performance indicators and drivers that our management uses to monitor and direct the 
operation of our businesses include, among others, the general economic conditions in the 
Philippines, market trends including customer demands, behavior and satisfaction parameters; 
technological developments, network performance (speed, coverage, capacity), market share and 
profitability.

Performance Indicators

We use a number of non-GAAP performance indicators to monitor financial performance. These are 
summarized below and discussed later in this report.

EBITDA

EBITDA for the year is measured as net income excluding depreciation, impairment non-financial 
asset, accretion expense of lease liabilities, foreign exchange gains (losses) net, gains (losses) on 
disposal of fixed assets, interest income, rental income, provision for (benefit from) income tax and 
other income net.  EBITDA is monitored by the management for each business unit separately for 
purposes of making decisions about resource allocation and performance assessment.  EBITDA is 
presented because our management believes that it is widely used by investors in their analysis of the 

of other companies in the telecommunications sector.  We also present EBITDA because it is used 

expenditures and meet working capital requirements.  Companies in the telecommunications sector 
have historically reported EBITDA as a supplement to financial measures in accordance with PFRS.  
EBITDA should not be considered as an alternative to net income as an indicator of our 
performance, nor should EBITDA be considered an alternative to cash flows from operating 
activities as a measure of liquidity or as an alternative to any other measure determined in 
accordance with PFRS.  Unlike net income, EBITDA does not include depreciation or financing
costs and, therefore, does not reflect current or future capital expenditures or the cost of capital.  We 
compensate for these limitations by using EBITDA as only one of several comparative tools, 
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together with PFRS-based measurements, to assist in the evaluation of operating performance.  Such 
PFRS-based measurements include income before income tax, net income, cash flows from 
operations and cash flow data.  We have significant uses of cash flows, including capital 
expenditures, interest payments, debt principal repayments, taxes and other non-recurring charges, 
which are not reflected in EBITDA.  Our calculation of EBITDA may be different from the 
calculation methods used by other companies and, therefore, comparability may be limited.

The following table shows the reconciliation of our consolidated EBITDA to our consolidated net 
income for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022:

December 31,
2024 2023 2022

(In millions)

Consolidated net income P=2,628 P=3,777 P=5,195
Add (deduct) adjustments:

  Provision for income tax 561 732 1,197
Depreciation 301 309 288
Accretion expense on lease liabilities 51 60 55
Losses (gains) on fair value change on perpetual notes 24 (230) 2,098
Impairment on creditable withholding tax 1 25
Gains on disposal of fixed assets (1) (1) (1)
Rental income (4) (5) (13)
Reversal of long outstanding accruals (32) (1,144)
Gain on sale of telecom towers (41) (661) (3,508)
Distribution income on perpetual notes (191) (191) (258)
Interest income (2) (3)
Other income (expenses) net 62 (7) (289)

Total adjustments 731 4 (1,553)
Consolidated EBITDA P=3,359 P=3,781 P=3,642

Core Income 

Core income for the year is measured as net income, excluding gain on sale of telecom towers, 
foreign exchange gains (losses) net, and net tax effect of aforementioned adjustments, as 
applicable.  Core income results are monitored by the management for each business unit separately 
for purposes of making decisions about resource allocation and performance assessment.  Core 
income should not be considered as an alternative to income before income tax or net income 
determined in accordance with PFRS as an indicator of our performance.  Unlike net income, core 
income does not include foreign exchange gains and losses, gains and losses on derivative financial 
instruments, asset impairments and other non-recurring gains and losses.  We compensate for these 
limitations by using core income as only one of several comparative tools, together with PFRS-based
measurements, to assist in the evaluation of operating performance.  Such PFRS-based 
measurements include income before income tax and net income.  Our calculation of core income 
may be different from the calculation methods used by other companies and, therefore, 
comparability may be limited. 

The following table shows the reconciliation of our consolidated core income to our consolidated net 
income for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022:

December 31,
2023 2023 2022

(In millions)

Consolidated net income P=2,628 P=3,777 P=5,195
Add (deduct) adjustments:

Gain on sale of telecom towers (41) (661) (3,508)
Foreign exchange gains net (1)
Net tax effect of aforementioned adjustments 6 100 526

Total adjustments (35) (562) (2,982)
Consolidated core income P=2,593 P=3,215 P=2,213
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The following table shows the reconciliation of our consolidated basic and diluted core earnings per 
share, or EPS, to our consolidated basic and diluted EPS attributable to common equity holders of 
Digitel for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022: 
 

 December 31, 
 2024 2023 2022 
  

    
Consolidated basic and diluted EPS attributable to common  P=0.10 P=0.12 P=0.08 
     equity holders of Digitel    
Add (deduct) adjustments:    

Gain on sale of telecom towers  0.03 0.14 
Net tax effect of aforementioned adjustments  (0.01) (0.02) 

Consolidated basic and diluted core EPS P=0.10 P=0.14 P=0.20 

 
Financial Condition and Changes in Financial Condition 
 
2024 Compared to 2023 
 
Cash and cash equivalents decreased by P=43 million to P=77 million as at December 31, 2023, from  
P=120 million as at December 31, 2020. Our consolidated net cash flows provided by operating 
activities amounted to P=2,341 million in 2024, lower by P=334 million,  or 12%, from P=2,675 million 
in 2023 primarily due to lower collection of trade and other receivables, higher level of other current 
assets, lower income taxes paid, lower settlement of trade and other payables, and lower operating 
income. Consolidated net cash provided by investing activities amounted to P=220 million in 2024, 
lower by P=604 million, or 73%, from P=824 million in 2023 primarily due to lower proceeds from 
disposal of fixed assets by P=620 million, and lower interest received by P=2 million. On a 
consolidated basis, net cash used in financing activities amounted to P=2,604 million in 2024, lower 
by P=896 million, or 26% from P=3,500 million in 2023 due primarily to lower cash dividends paid by 
P=1,029 million, and lower payments for interest on lease liability by P=9 million, partly offset by 
higher payments for principal of lease liability by P=142 million. 
 
Trade and other receivables increased by P=547 million, or 24%, due mainly from additional 
receivables from related parties. 

 
Inventories amounted to nil as at December 31, 2024 and 2023.  
 
Other current assets decreased by P=21 million, or 23%, primarily due to the higher prepaid fees and 
licenses and prepaid rent. 
 
Investment properties amounted to P=55 million each as at December 31, 2024 and 2023, which 
represent land that is currently held for undetermined future use. 
 
Right-of-use (ROU) assets decreased by P=93 million, or 17%, due to depreciation and termination of 
ROU sites, partly offset by additional ROU sites during the period.  
 
Investment in perpetual notes decreased by P=24 million, or 2%, primarily due to loss on fair value 
change on perpetual notes. 
 
Net deferred income tax asset amounted to P=2 milliom as at December 31, 2024. 
 
Other noncurrent assets increased by P=12 million, or 3%, primarily due to higher refundable security 
deposits. 
 
Trade and other payables decreased by P=2,146 million, or 13%, due to settlement to related parties, 
partly offset by higher trade payables and accrued expenses. 



22

Net deferred income tax liabilities increased by P=15 million, or 750%, due to lower deferred income
tax asset on lease liability.

Other noncurrent portion liabilities decreased by P=70 million, or 13%, due to lower lease liabilities 
net of current portion, partly offset by increase in asset retirement obligation. 

2023 Compared to 2022

Cash and cash equivalents remained flat at P=120 million as at December 31, 2023 and 2022. Our 
consolidated net cash flows provided by operating activities amounted to P=2,675 million in 2023 as 
against consolidated net cash flows used in operating activities amounting to P=4,968 million in 2022
primarily due to higher collection of trade and other receivables and lower income tax paid, partially 
offset by higher settlement of trade and other payables, higher other assets, lower other noncurrent 
liabilities and lower operating income. Consolidated net cash provided by investing activities 
amounted to P=825 million in 2023, lower by P=4,432 million, or 84%, from P=5,272 million in 2022
primarily due to lower proceeds from disposal of fixed assets by P=2,847 million, lower proceeds 
from distribution of perpetual notes by P=67 million and lower interest received by P=1 million,
proceeds from partial redemption of perpetual notes of P=1,500 million in 2022 as against nil in 2023.
On a consolidated basis, net cash used in financing activities amounted to P=3,500 million in 2023, 
higher by 875%, or P=3,141 million, from P=359 million in 2022 due to cash dividends paid of P=3,212
million in 2023, partly offset by lower payments for principal of lease liability by P=76 million.

Trade and other receivables increased by P=307 million to P=2,272 million as at December 31, 2023,
from P=1,965 million as at December 31, 2022 due mainly from higher billable charges to related parties.

Inventories amounted to nil as at December 31, 2023 and 2022. Impairment losses on inventory 
arising from obsolescence and write-down of inventories to NRV amounted to nil for the years 
ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Other current assets decreased by P=49 million to P=99 million as at December 31, 2023, from    
P=148 million in December 31, 2022 primarily due to the lower prepaid rentals.

Investment properties amounting to P=55 million as at December 31, 2023 and 2022 which represent 
land that is currently held for undetermined future use.

Property and equipment amounted to nil as at December 31, 2023, from P=1 million as at December 
31, 2022, primarily due to various disposals and depreciation.

Right-of-use assets increased by P=215 million to P=560 million as at December 31, 2023 from    
P=345 million in 2022 due to additions amounting to P=632 million, partially offset by termination of 
P=133 million, and depreciation of P=308 million.

Investment in perpetual notes increased by P=230 million to P=1,523 million as at December 31, 2023,
from P=1,293 million in 2022 primarily due to gain on fair value change on perpetual notes.

Net deferred income tax asset decreased to P=1 million as at December 31, 2023, from P=15 million as
at December 31, 2022 primarily due to higher deferred income tax liabilities on ROU assets and 
pension and other employee benefits, partly offset by higher deferred income tax assets on lease 
liability.

Other noncurrent assets increased by P=29 million to P=424 million as at December 31, 2023, from         
P=395 million as at December 31, 2022 due to higher pension asset and refundable deposits.
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Trade and other payables decreased by P=994 million to P=16,511 million as at December 31, 2023, 
from P=17,505 million as at December 31, 2022 due to settlement to related parties, lower accrued 
expenses, partially offset by higher trade payables. 

 
Income tax payable amounted to P=199 million which represents income tax due for 2023. 
 
Net deferred income tax liabilities decreased by P=1 million to P=2 million as at December 31, 2023 
from P=3 million as at December 31, 2022 due to lower deferred income tax liability on pension 
assets. 
 
Noncurrent portion and current lease liabilities decreased by P=16 million and increased by P=240 
million, respectively, to P=323 million and P=282 million, respectively, as at December 31, 2023 from                  
P=339 million and P=42 million, respectively, as at December 31, 2022 due to higher additional lease 
liabilities recognized during the year, higher accretion expenses, lower termination and lower 
settlement of obligations.  
 
Asset retirement obligation (ARO) decreased by P=16 million to P=210 million as at December 31, 
2023, from P=226 million as at December 31, 2022 due to lower capitalized to ROU assets, partially 
offset by higher accretion expenses and lower gain on adjustment of ARO.  

 
Capital deficiency decreased by P=1,518 million to P=12,469 million as at December 31, 2023, from            
P=13,987 million as at December 31, 2022 due to the net income during the year amounting to                
P=3,777 million, partially offset by cash dividends amounting to P= million. 
 
2022 Compared to 2021 
 
Cash and cash equivalents decreased by P=54 million to P=120 million as at December 31, 2022, from 
P=174 million as at December 31, 2021. Our consolidated net cash flows used in operating activities 
amounted to P=1,831 million in 2022 as against consolidated net cash flows provided operating 
activities  amounting to P=405 million in 2021 primarily due to higher settlement of due to related 
parties and trade and other payables, lower other current assets and higher incom tax paid partially 
offset by, lower collection of trade and other receivables, lower asset retirement obligation, and 
lower operating income. Consolidated net cash provided by investing activities amounted to                          
P=5,272 million in 2022, higher by P=4,723 million, or 860%, from P=549 million in 2021 primarily due 
to higher proceeds from disposal of fixed assets by P=3,507 million, proceeds from partial redemption 
of perpetual notes of P=1,500 million and higher interest received by P=2 million, partly offset by 
lower proceeds from distribution of perpetual notes. On a consolidated basis, net cash used in 
financing activities amounted to P=1,030 million in 2021, lower by 69% from P=3,302 million in 2020 
due to lower cash dividends paid by P=2,050 million and  lower payments for principal and interest of 
lease liability by P=190 million and P=32 million, respectively. 
 
Trade and other receivables decreased by P=1,797 million to P=1,965 million as at December 31, 2022, 
from P=3,762 million as at December 31, 2021 due mainly from collection from related parties. 

 
Inventories amounted to nil as at December 31, 2022 and 2021. Impairment losses on inventory 
arising from obsolescence and write-down of inventories to NRV amounted to nil for the years 
ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. 

 
Other current assets increased by P=29 million to P=148 million as at December 31, 2022, from                         
P=119 million in December 31, 2021 primarily due to the higher prepaid rentals. 
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Investment properties amounting to P=55 million as at December 31, 2022 and 2021 which represent 
land that is currently held for undetermined future use.

Property and equipment decreased by P=3 million to P=1 million as at December 31, 2022, from
P=4 million as at December 31, 2021 primarily due to various disposals and depreciation.

Right-of-use assets decreased by P=685 million to P=345 million as at December 31, 2022 from 
P=1,030 million in 2022 due to termination of P=475 million, and depreciation of P=285 million,  
partially offset by additions amounting to P=80 million.

Investment in perpetual notes decreased by P=3,598 million to P=1,293 million as at 
December 31, 2022, from P=4,891 million in 2021 primarily due to loss on fair value change on 
perpetual notes and partial redemption of P=1,500 million.

Net deferred income tax asset increased to P=11 million as at December 31, 2022, from P=3 million as
at December 31, 2021 primarily due to lower deferred income tax liabilities on pension and other 
employee benefits, financial instruments and ROU assets, partly offset by lower deferred income tax 
assets on lease liability and asset impairment.

Other noncurrent assets decreased by P=71 million to P=395 million as at December 31, 2022, from         
P=467 million as at December 31, 2021 due to lower pension asset and refundable deposits.

Trade and other payables decreased by P=7,201 million to P=17,505 million as at December 31, 2022,
from P=24,706 million as at December 31, 2021 due to settlement to related parties, lower accrued 
expenses and net payables to connecting carriers.

Income tax payable amounted to P=192 million which represents income tax due for 2022.

Net deferred income tax liabilities decreased by P=1 million to P=3 million as at December 31, 2022
from P=4 million as at December 31, 2021 due to lower deferred income tax liability on pension 
assets.

Noncurrent portion and current lease liabilities decreased by P=529 million and P=253 million, 
respectively, to P=339 million and P=42 million, respectively, as at December 31, 2022 from        
P=868 million and P=295 million, respectively, as at December 31, 2021 due to lower additional lease 
liabilities recognized during the year, lower accretion expenses and lower termination, partially 
offset by lower settlement of obligations.

Asset retirement obligation decreased by P=115 million to P=226 million as at December 31, 2022,
from P=336 million as at December 31, 2021 due to lower settlement of asset retirement obligation
and accretion expenses. 

Capital deficiency decreased by P=2,058 million to P=13,987 million as at December 31, 2022, from      
P=16,045 million as at December 31, 2021 due to the net income during the year amounting to 
P=5,195 million, partially offset by cash dividends amounting to P=3,137 million.

Results of Operations

The table shows the contribution by each of our business segments to our consolidated revenues, 
expenses, other income (expenses) net, income (loss) before income tax, net income (loss), 
EBITDA, EBITDA margin and core income for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022.
In each of the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, a majority of our revenues are 
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derived from our operations within the Philippines.  Our revenues derived from outside the 
Philippines consist primarily of revenues from incoming international calls to the Philippines.

Inter-segment
Wireless Fixed Line Transactions Consolidated

(In millions)

For the year ended December 31, 2024
Revenues P=6,333 P=6,333
Expenses 3,218 57 3,275
Other income 66 65 131
Income before income tax 3,181 8 3,189
Provision for income tax 563 1 (3) 561
Net income / Segment profit 2,618 7 3 2,628
EBITDA 3,415 (56) 3,359
EBITDA margin (1) 54% 53%
Core income 2,583 7 3 2,593

For the year ended December 31, 2023
Revenues P=7,106 P=7,106
Expenses 3,547 88 (1) 3,634
Other income 981 57 (1) 1,037
Income before income tax 4,540 (31) 4,509
Provision for (benefit from) income tax 733 (1) 732
Net income (loss)/ Segment profit (loss) 3,807 (30) 3,777
EBITDA 3,869 (88) 3,781
EBITDA margin (1) 54% 53%
Core income 3,245 (30) 3,215

Inter-segment
Wireless Fixed Line Transactions Consolidated

(In millions)

For the year ended December 31, 2022
Revenues P=7,203 P=7,203
Expenses 3,760 114 3,874
Other income 2,319 744 3,063
Income before income tax 5,762 630 6,392
Provision for income tax 1,191 6 1,197
Net income / Segment profit 4,571 624 5,195
EBITDA 3,730 (88) 3,642
EBITDA margin (1) 52% 51%
Core income 1,588 625 2,213

(1) EBITDA margin for the period is measured as EBITDA divided by service revenues. 

Years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023

On a Consolidated Basis

Revenues

We reported consolidated revenues of P=6,333 million in 2024, a decrease of P=773 million, or 11%, 
as compared with P=7,106 million in 2023, due to lower revenues from our wireless business.

Expenses

Consolidated expenses decreased by P=359 million, or 10%, to P=3,275 million in 2024 from   
P=3,634 million in 2023, largely as a result of lower repairs and maintenance, taxes and licenses, 
royalty expense, depreciation, and professional and other contracted services. This was partly offset 
by higher rent and other expenses.
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The following table shows the breakdown of our consolidated expenses by business segment for the 
years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023:

Change
2024 % 2023 % Amount %

(In millions)

Wireless P=3,218 98 P=3,547 98 (P=329) (9)
Fixed line 57 2 88 2 (31) (35)
Intersegment (1) 1 (100)
Consolidated P=3,275 100 P=3,634 100 (P=359) (10)

Other Income 

Consolidated other income decreased by P=906 million, or 87%, to P=131 million in 2024 from  
P=1,037 million in 2023, primarily due to the combined effects of the following: (i) loss on fair value 
change on perpetual notes of P=24 million as against gain on fair value change on perpetual notes of  
P=230 million in 2023 (ii) lower gain on sale of telecom towers by P=620 million; (iii) lower rental 
income by P=1 million; (iv) lower interest income by P=2 million; (v) lower financing costs by P=9
million; (vi) reversal of long outstanding accruals of  P=32 million as compared to nil in 2023; and 
(vii) other expenses net of P=62 million as against other income net of P=7 million in 2023.

The following table shows the breakdown of our consolidated other income by business segment for 
the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023:

Change
2024 % 2023 % Amount %

(In millions)

Wireless P=66 50 P=981 95 (P=915) (93)
Fixed line 65 50 57 5 8 14
Intersegment (1) 1 100
Consolidated P=131 100 P=1,037 100 (P=906) (87)

Net Income 

We reported a consolidated net income of P=2,628 million in 2024, a decrease of P=1,149 million, or 
30%, from P=3,777 million in 2023.  The decrease was mainly due to the combined effects of the 
following: (i) lower consolidated revenues by P=773 million; (ii) lower expenses by P=359 million; 
(iii) lower provision for income tax by P=171 million; and (iv) lower other income by P=906 million.
Our consolidated basic/dilutive earnings per share amounted to P=0.10 and P=0.14 in 2024 and 2023,
respectively.

The following table shows the breakdown of our consolidated net income by business segment for 
the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023:

Change
2024 % 2023 % Amount %

(In millions)

Wireless P=2,618 100 P=3,807 101 (P=1,189) (31)
Fixed line 7 (30) (1) 37 (123)
Intersegment 3 3 100
Consolidated P=2,628 100 P=3,777 100 (P=1,149) (30)
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EBITDA 
 
We reported a consolidated EBITDA of P=3,359 million in 2024, lower by P=422 million, or 11%, 
from P=3,781 million in 2023, primarily due to lower revenues, partly offset by the decrease in 
expenses. 
 
 The following table shows the breakdown of our consolidated EBITDA by business segment for the 
years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023: 
 

     Change 
 2024 % 2023 % Amount % 
 (In millions) 

       
Wireless P=3,415 102 P=3,869 102 (P=454) (12) 
Fixed line (56) (2) (88) (2) 32 (36) 
Consolidated P=3,359 100 P=3,781 100 (P=422) (11) 

 
Core Income 
 
Our consolidated core income decreased by P=622 million, or 19%, to P=2,593 million in 2024 from                     
P=3,215 million in 2023 primarily due to lower core income from our wireless business segment 
partly offset by higher core income from our fixed line business segment. 
 
The following table shows the breakdown of our consolidated core income by business segment for 
the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023: 

 
     Change 
 2024 % 2023 % Amount % 
 (In millions) 

       
Wireless P=2,583 100 P=3,245 101 (P=662) (20) 
Fixed line 7  (30) (1) 37 123 
Intersegment 3    3 100 
Consolidated P=2,593 100 P=3,215 100 (P=622) (19) 

 
Years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 
 
On a Consolidated Basis 

Revenues 

We reported consolidated revenues of P=7,106 million in 2023, a decrease of P=97 million, or 1%, as 
compared with P=7,203 million in 2022, due to lower revenues from our wireless business. 

Expenses 

Consolidated expenses decreased by P=240 million, or 6%, to P=3,634 million in 2023 from                           
P=3,874 million in 2022, largely as a result of decrease in repairs and maintenance, rent, asset 
impairment, insurance and security services, and professional and other contracted services.  This 
was partly offset by the increase in taxes and licenses and depreciation. 
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The following table shows the breakdown of our consolidated expenses by business segment for the 
years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022:

Change
2023 % 2022 % Amount %

(In millions)

Wireless P=3,547 98 P=3,760 97 (P=213) (6)
Fixed line 88 2 114 3 (26) (23)
Intersegment (1) (1) 100
Consolidated P=3,634 100 P=3,874 100 (P=240) (6)

Other Income 

Consolidated other income decreased by P=2,026 million, or 66%, to P=1,037 million in 2023 from  P=
3,063 million in 2022, primarily due to the combined effects of the following: (i) lower gain on sale 
of telecom towers by P=2,847 million; (ii) gain on fair value change on perpetual notes of P=230
million as against loss on fair value change on perpetual notes of P=2,098 million in 2022;     
(iii) lower distribution income by P=67 million; (iv) lower rental income by P=8 million; (v) lower 
interest income by P=1 million; (vi) foreign exchange gain of P=1 million; (vii) gain on disposal of 
fixed assets of P=1 million; (viii) higher financing costs by P=5 million; (ix) lower reversal of long 
outstanding accruals by P=1,144 million; and (x) lower other income by P=283 million.
The following table shows the breakdown of our consolidated other income by business segment for 
the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022:

Change
2023 % 2022 % Amount %

(In millions)

Wireless P=981 95 P=2,319 76 (P=1,338) (58)
Fixed line 57 5 744 24 (687) (92)
Intersegment (1) (1) 100
Consolidated P=1,037 100 P=3,063 100 (P=2,026) (66)

Net Income 

We reported a consolidated net income of P=3,777 million in 2023, a decrease of P=1,418 million, or 
27%, from P=5,195 million in 2022.  The decrease was mainly due to the combined effects of the 
following: (i) lower consolidated revenues by P=97 million; (ii) lower expenses by P=239 million; 
(iii) lower provision for income tax by P=465 million; and (iv) lower other income by P=2,025 million.
Our consolidated basic/dilutive earnings per share amounted to P=0.14 and P=0.20 in 2023 and 2022,
respectively.

The following table shows the breakdown of our consolidated net income by business segment for 
the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022:

Change
2023 % 2022 % Amount %

(In millions)

Wireless P=3,807 101 P=4,571 88 (P=764) (17)
Fixed line (30) (1) 624 12 (654) (105)
Consolidated P=3,777 100 P=5,195 100 (P=1,418) (27)

EBITDA

We reported a consolidated EBITDA of P=3,781 million in 2023, higher by P=139 million, or 4%, 
from P=3,642 million in 2022, primarily due to lower expenses excluding depreciation, partly offset 
by the decrease in revenues.
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The following table shows the breakdown of our consolidated EBITDA by business segment for the 
years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022:

Change
2023 % 2022 % Amount %

(In millions)

Wireless P=3,869 102 P=3,730 102 P=139 4
Fixed line (88) (2) (88) (2)
Consolidated P=3,781 100 P=3,642 100 P=139 4

Core Income

Our consolidated core income increased by P=1,002 million, or 45%, to P=3,215 million in 2023 from
P=2,213 million in 2022 primarily due higher core income from our wireless business segment partly 
offset by core loss from our fixed line business segment.

The following table shows the breakdown of our consolidated core income by business segment for 
the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022:

Change
2023 % 2022 % Amount %

(In millions)

Wireless P=3,245 101 P=1,588 72 P=1,657 104
Fixed line (30) (1) 625 28 (655) (105)
Consolidated P=3,215 100 P=2,213 100 P=1,002 45

Years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021

On a Consolidated Basis

Revenues

We reported consolidated revenues of P=7,203 million in 2022, a decrease of P=409 million, or 5%, as 
compared with P=7,612 million in 2021, primarily due to lower revenues from our wireless business.

Expenses

Consolidated expenses increased by P=21 million, or 1%, to P=3,874 million in 2022 from   
P=3,853 million in 2021, largely as a result of the increase in repairs and maintenance, asset 
impairment, and taxes and licenses. This was partly offset by the decrease in depreciation, 
professional and other contracted services, compensation and employee benefits, rent and insurance 
and security services. 

The following table shows the breakdown of our consolidated expenses by business segment for the 
years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021:

Change
2022 % 2021 % Amount %

(In millions)

Wireless P=3,760 97 P=3,683 96 P=77 2
Fixed line 114 3 172 4 (58) (34)
Intersegment (2) 2
Consolidated P=3,874 100 P=3,853 100 P=21 1
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Other Income 

Consolidated other income increased by P=1,436 million, or 88%, to P=3,063 million in 2022 from
P=1,627 million in 2021, primarily due to the combined effects of the following: (i) gain on sale of 
telecom towers of P=3,508; (ii) lower financing cost by P=39 millon; (iii) lower financing costs by      
P=16 million (iv) higher interest income by P=2 million (v) lower net foreign exchange gains by       
P=4 million; (vi) lower distribution income by P=23 million; (vii) lower gain on sale of investment in 
associates by P=32 million (viii) lower equity share in net earnings of affiliates by P=33 million;
(ix) lower rental income by P=53 million; (x) lower reversal of long outstanding accruals by         
P=523 million; (xi) ) higher loss on fair value change on perpetual notes by P=1,740 million; and (xii) 
lower other income by P=75 million.

The following table shows the breakdown of our consolidated other income by business segment for 
the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021:

Change
2022 % 2021 % Amount %

(In millions)

Wireless P=2,319 73 P=1,390 85 P=929 67
Fixed line 744 27 239 15 505 211
Intersegment (2) 2
Consolidated P=3,063 100 P=1,627 100 P=1,436 88

Net Income 

We reported a consolidated net income of P=5,195 million in 2022, an increase of P=618 million, or 
14%, from P=4,577 million in 2021.  The increase was mainly due to the combined effects of the 
following: (i) lower consolidated revenues by P=409 million; (ii) lower expenses by P=333 million; 
(iii) higher provision for income tax by P=388 million; and (ii) higher other income by 
P=1,082 million.  Our consolidated basic/dilutive earnings per share amounted to P=0.20 and P=0.18 in 
2022 and 2021, respectively.

The following table shows the breakdown of our consolidated net income by business segment for 
the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021:

Change
2022 % 2021 % Amount %

(In millions)

Wireless P=4,571 88 P=4,509 99 P=62 1
Fixed line 624 12 68 1 556 818
Consolidated P=5,195 100 P=4,577 100 P=618 14

EBITDA

We reported a consolidated EBITDA of P=3,996 million in 2022, lower by P=370 million, or 8%, from 
P=4,366 million in 2021, primarily due to lower revenues, partly offset by the decrease in expenses 
excluding depreciation.
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The following table shows the breakdown of our consolidated EBITDA by business segment for the 
years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021:

Change
2022 % 2021 % Amount %

(In millions)

Wireless P=4,084 102 P=4,536 104 (P=452) (10)
Fixed line (88) (2) (172) (4) 84 (49)
Intersegment 2 (2) (100)
Consolidated P=3,996 100 P=4,366 100 (P=370) (8)

Core Income

Our consolidated core income decreased by P=2,423 million, or 52%, to P=2,213 million in 2022 from
P=4,636 million in 2021 primarily due higher core income from our wireless business segment partly 
offset by lower core income from our fixed line business segment.
The following table shows the breakdown of our consolidated core income by business segment for 
the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021:

Change
2022 % 2021 % Amount %

(In millions)

Wireless P=1,588 72 P=4,574 99 (P=2,986) (65)
Fixed line 625 28 62 1 563 908
Consolidated P=2,213 100 P=4,636 100 (P=2,423) (52)

Other Matters

a. Any known trends, demands, commitments, events or uncertainties that will have a material

- We are not aware of any known trends, demands, commitments, events or uncertainties that

- Digitel Group has not defaulted in paying its currently maturing obligations.  
- current liabilities appear to be materially higher than its current assets, as indicated 

by the current ratio of 0.21:1 due to an outstanding payable to PLDT and other related 
parties amounting to P=13.1 billion as at December 31, 2024.  Without this portion in the 
current liabilities, the current ratio will improve to 1.67:1.

b. Any events that will trigger direct or contingent financial obligation that is material to Digitel,
including any default or acceleration of an obligation.
- We are not aware of any events that will trigger direct or contingent financial obligation that

is material to Digitel Group, including any default or acceleration of an obligation.

c. Description of any material commitments for capital expenditures, general purpose of such
commitments, expected sources of funds for such expenditures.
- We have no material commitments for capital expenditures.

d. Any material off-balance sheet transactions, arrangements, obligations (including contingent
obligations), and other relationships of the company with unconsolidated entities or other
persons created during the reporting period.
- We are not aware of any material off-balance sheet transactions, arrangements, obligations 

(including contingent obligations), and other relationships of the company with 
unconsolidated entities or other persons created during the reporting period.
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e. Any known trends, events or uncertainties that have had or that are reasonably expected to have
a material favorable or unfavorable impact on net sales/revenues/income from continuing
operations.
- We are not aware of any known trends, events or uncertainties that have had or that are

reasonably expected to have a material favorable or unfavorable impact on net 
sales/revenues/income from continuing operations.

f.
-

continuing operations.

g. Seasonal aspects that have material effect on the FS.
- We are not aware of any seasonal aspects that have material effect on the FS.

C.
for the first three months ended March 31, 2025

As of current date, April 8, 2025, Financial condition and results of operations is not yet 
available, but the Company shall provide copies thereof to shareholders before the Annual 
Stockholders Meeting on May 26, 2025.

D. Market Information Holders and Dividends

Stock Prices

On January 24, 2012, Digitel filed for voluntary delisting of its shares with the PSE, since its 
public ownership level had fallen below the minimum 10% required by the PSE. On 
February 22, 2012, the PSE granted the petition for voluntary delisting and accordingly ordered 
the delisting of the shares of Digitel from the Official Registry of the PSE effective 

date was March 20, 2012 which closed at P=1.45 per 
share.

Top 20 Stockholders 

As at April 30, 2025, there were 4,927 common shares.  Listed 
below were the top 20 common shareholders, including their nationalities, the number of shares 
held, the amount of their holdings, and the approximate percentages of their respective 

on stocks:  
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Approximate
Number % to Total
of Shares Amount of Outstanding

Name of Holder of Record Nationality Held Holding Common Stock

1. PLDT Filipino   26,043,279,329   P=2,604,327,933   99.62 

2. Thorton Holdings, Inc. British 26,680,810 2,668,081 0.10 

3. Chak Ching Chan Filipino 11,614,000 1,161,400 0.04 
4. Seven (7) R. Port Services, Inc. Filipino 5,000,000 500,000 0.02 
5. PCD Nominee Corporation Filipino 2,395,411 239,541

6. BPI Sec Corp Fao Charlie D. Misaghi Filipino 2,759,000 P=275,900 0.01 
7. Margarita Oppen Filipino 1,830,000 183,000 0.01 
8. De Tuazon Paz A. Filipino 1,663,500 166,350 0.01 
9. Michael S. Chua Filipino 1,406,000 140,600 0.01

10. Alvin Rey C. Sia Filipino 1,000,000 100,000 0.00 
11. Lawrence C. Sia Filipino 1,000,000 100,000 0.00 
12. Anthony U. Que Filipino 940,000   94,000 0.00 
13. Ilene V. Acuna Filipino 937,000 93,700 0.00 
14. CBC as Investment Agent for IMA Filipino 815,600 81,560 0.00 
15. Ronald Arellano Vallar Filipino 800,000 80,000 0.00
16. BPI Securities Corporation Fao Reynaldo C. Filipino 609,000 60,900 0.00
17. Citibank Na Fao 1100050018 Filipino 600,000 60,000 0.00
18. Leoncio Chungunco Filipino 588,900 58,890 0.00
19. Choa Siu Tin Filipino 500,000 50,000 0.00
20. Manuel Chua Co Kiong / Judy Chua Co Kiong Filipino 500,000 50,000 0.00

  26,105,600,550 P=2,610,560,055

Dividends

The Parent Company did not declare cash dividends in 2024.

On December 5, 2023, the BOD of the Parent Company declared cash dividends in the amount 
of Php2,259mn, or approximately Php0.0864 per share of common stock to holders of record as 
at December 15, 2023, which was 
2024, and to its majority shareholder, PLDT Inc. on December 5, 2024

On December 15, 2022, the BOD of the Parent Company declared cash dividends of P=0.12 per 
share to all common shareholders of record as of December 31, 2022, which was paid to 
minority shareholders on January 13, 2023 and to its majority shareholder, PLDT Inc. on or 
before December 15, 2023.

On November 4, 2021, the BOD of the Parent Company declared cash dividends of P=0.0192 per 
share to all common shareholders of record as of November 15, 2021 which was paid on 
Novemver 29, 2021 amounting to P=502 million.

On November 5, 2020, the BOD of the Parent Company declared cash dividends of P=0.0976 per 
share to all common shareholders of record as of November 16, 2020 which was paid on 
December 1, 2020 amounting to P=2,552 million.

On November 7, 2019, the BOD of the Parent Company declared cash dividends of P=0.0846 per 
share to all common shareholders of record as of November 18, 2019 which was paid on 
December 2, 2019 amounting to P=2,212 million.

The Parent Company did not declare cash dividends in 2018.

December 31, 2023 based on the guidelines set forth in the Memorandum Circular 11 issued by 
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the Philippine SEC on December 5, 2008 is P=13,645 million. The Parent Company plans to 
declare cash dividends out of the remaining retained earnings as funds becomes available.

In accordance with the Company's By-Laws dividends shall be declared only from the surplus 
profits of the Company and shall be payable at such time, manner and amounts as the Board of 
Directors shall determine. No dividends shall be declared which shall impair the capital of the 
Company.

Recent Sales of Unregistered or Exempt Securities

There were no sales of unregistered or exempt securities.

E. Compliance with the Corporate Governance Manual

The Company is committed to good corporate governance in compliance with local regulatory 
mandates. 

The Company adopted a new Manual on Corporate Governance on June 9, 2020 which 
substantially adopted all of the recommendations under SEC Memorandum Circular No. 24, 
series of 2019, otherwise known as the Code of Corporate Governance for Public Companies 

Governance was submitted to the SEC on September 29, 2020.  The Board of Directors also 
approved the following corporate governance policies: (a) Code of Business Conduct and Ethics; 
(b) Conflict of Interest Policy; (c) Whistleblowing Policy; (d) Gifts, Entertainment and 
Sponsored Travel Policy; (e) Supplier/Contractor Relations Policy; (f) Third-party Business 
Partners Corporate Governance Guidelines; and (g) Policy on Gift-Giving Activities.

The Company further approved on March 22, 2022 its Revised Audit Committee Charter and 
Internal Audit Charter.

On November 12, 2024, DTPI and DMPI Boards approved the Amended Code of Business 
Conduct and Ethics 

To ensure that the Company complies with leading practices in good corporate governance,
directors and top management as well as key employees attended the Annual Corporate 
Governance Enhancement Session of the PLDT Group held on September 27, 2024.

The Internal Auditor continues to performs internal audit functions in compliance 
with the Manual.

On June 27, 2024, the Compliance Officer submitted with the Securities and
Exchange Commission Annual Corporate Governance Report for Public

2023
confirming that, except as disclosed and explained in the ACGR, the Company, its directors, 
officers and employees substantially complied with its Corporate Governance Manual and SEC 
MC No. 24, series of 2019.  There are no deviation
Governance.

The level of compliance of Digitel to the provisions of the CG Code for PCs and RIs for the 
period beginning January 1 to December 31, 2024 will be reported in its ACGR to be submitted 
to the SEC on or before June 30, 2025, as provided for in SEC MC 13 series of 2021. 
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F. Undertaking to Provide Annual Report and 1Q 2025 Unaudited Interim Financial 
Statements and M Discussion and Analysis (MD&A)

DIGITAL TELECOMMUNICATIONS PHILS., INC. (DIGITEL), AS A REGISTRANT, 
WILL PROVIDE THE STOCKHOLDERS, UPON WRITTEN REQUEST, A COPY OF
THE AND 1Q 202 UNAUDITED INTERIM FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MD&A FREE OF CHARGE. SUCH WRITTEN REQUEST SHOULD 
BE DIRECTED TO: 

Atty. Alex Erlito S. Fider
Corporate Secretary
Digital Telecommunications Phils., Inc.
Picazo Buyco Tan Fider & Santos
18th Floor, Liberty Center
104 H. V. de la Costa St.
Salcedo Village, Makati City



DIGITAL TELECOMMUNICATIONS PHILS., INC.
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INSTRUCTIONS ON REGISTRATION, ONLINE VOTING IN ABSENTIA AND
PARTICIPATION BY REMOTE COMMUNICATION

General Instructions 

1. Stockholders as of March 31, 2025 have the option to vote via online voting in absentia on the proposed corporate actions set
out in items 3, 5, 6, 7 and 8 of the Agenda.

2. To vote via online voting in absentia, the stockholder must have registered and received an e-mail confirmation from the
Company that his registration has been successful. Registration period shall start on May 5, 2025 until May 16, 2025. After
the May 16, 2025 registration deadline, the stockholder can no longer avail of the option to vote via online voting in absentia.
A stockholder who has successfully registered on or before the May 16, 2025 registration deadline can also participate in the
Annual Meeting by remote communication.

3. A stockholder who was not able to register until May 16, 2025 can no longer vote via online in absentia but may participate
in the Annual Meeting by remote communication if he is able to register not later than May 21, 2025,

4. Only stockholders who have registered within the prescribed period, together with the stockholders who voted in absentia,
and by proxy, will be included in the determination of quorum.

Registration 

A. How to Register: 

1. A stockholder may register by informing the Assistant Corporate Secretary, Joel D. Peneyra via email at
jdpeneyra@pldt.com.ph from May 5, 2025 up to May 16, 2025.  Instructions on how to participate via MS Teams shall be
provided the stockholder. Stockholders who wish to vote online and participate by remote communication will be required
to register not later than May 16, 2025. Stockholders who were not able to register as of May 16, 2025 can no longer avail of
online voting but may still participate by remote communication, provided such stockholders shall register not later than May
21, 2025.

2. The stockholder must supply the following information and documentary requirements:

(a) For individual stockholder:
-issued ID with photo and signature, preferably with residential 

address (in JPG format). 
(ii) A valid and active e-mail address 
(iii) A valid and active contact number 

(b) For Corporate Stockholder: 
(i) a scanned copy of certification signed by a duly authorized officer of such corporate stockholder attesting to the 

authority of the representative to vote for and on behalf of the corporate stockholder (in JPG format). 
(ii) a scanned copy of one (1) valid government-issued ID of the representative with photo and signature, preferably with 

residential address, or two (2) valid non-government issued IDs with photo and signature, preferably with residential 
address (in JPG format). 

(iii) a valid and active e-mail address of the representative 
(iv) a valid and active contact number of the representative 

(c) For stockholders with joint account - a scanned copy of an authorization letter signed by all the joint stockholders, 
identifying who among them is authorized to cast the vote for the account (in JPG format). 

(i) Individual beneficial owner: 

shareholdings (in JPG format) 
-issued ID with photo and signature, 

preferably with residential address, or two (2) valid non-government issued IDs with photo and signature, 
preferably with residential address (in JPG format). 

(c) a valid and active e-mail address 
(d) a valid and active contact number 

(ii) Corporate beneficial owner: 



shareholdings (in JPG format) 
(b) a scanned copy of certification signed by a duly authorized officer of such corporate beneficial owner attesting to 

the authority of the representative to vote for and on behalf of the corporate beneficial stockholder (in JPG format) 
(c) a scanned copy of one (1) valid government-issued ID of the representative with photo and signature, preferably 

with residential address, or two (2) valid non-government issued IDs with photo and signature, preferably with 
residential address (in JPG format). 

B. How will I know if my registration is successful? 

1. You will receive an email informing that your registration will be subject to validation

2. A stockholder who registered on or before May 16, 2025, and whose registration has been validated will receive an email
containing information on the online voting in absentia, and his access to the Annual Meeting, within three (3) business days 
from the date of registration.

3. A stockholder who registered after May 16, 2025 and until May 21, 2025, and whose registration has been validated will
receive an email containing his access to the Annual Meeting, not later than three (3) business days from the date of
registration.

Online Voting in Absentia 

How to Vote Online? 

1. A stockholder who registered on or before May 16, 2025, and whose registration has been validated and qualified to online
voting in absentia shall accomplish the ballot provided and email it back to the Assistant Corporate Secretary, Joel D. Peneyra
at jdpeneyra@pldt.com.ph.

2. For the approval of the Minutes of the Annual Meeting of the Stockholders held on May 27, 2024

3. For the approval of the audited financial statements for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2024, select 

4. For the election of directors, you may vote such number of shares recorded in your name as of the Record Date, for as many
persons as there are directors to be elected or you may cumulate said shares and give one candidate as many votes as the
number of directors to be elected multiplied by the number of your shares shall equal, or you may distribute them on the same
principle among as many candidates as you shall see fit.

5. For the election of external auditor, SGV & Co. is nominated for election as external auditor, select 

6. -Laws changing the day of when to hold
last Monday of June

to indicate your vote

7. Once you have completed the ballot please email it back to the Assistant Corporate Secretary, Joel D. Peneyra at
jdpeneyra@pldt.com.ph on or before 10 A.M. on May 21, 2025.

8. A stockholder may cast his vote during the period beginning May 5, 2025 until 10 A.M. on May 21, 2025.

Participation by Remote Communication 

1. A stockholder who has successfully registered on or before May 21, 2025 can participate in the Annual Meeting by remote
communication via Microsoft Teams (MS Teams).

2. A stockholder who was not able to register until May 16, 2025 may still participate in the Annual Meeting provided he is
able to register via email at jdpeneyra@pldt.com.ph not later than May 21, 2025. For validation purposes, the stockholder,
shall be required to submit the documentary requirements listed in Item A. (Registration) above. He will then receive an
email containing his access to the Annual Meeting.
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3. A stockholder may send his questions or comments prior to or during the Annual Meeting to jdpeneyra@pldt.com.ph

4. For question or clarification, please contact Joel D. Peneyra at 09285590433 or via email at jdpeneyra@pldt.com.ph
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STOCKHOLDER PROXY

(Proxy solicitation is being made by and on behalf of the Company)

ll 
power of substitution and delegation, as the proxy of the undersigned, to represent and vote all of the shares of the undersigned at the Annual 
Meeting of Stockholders of the Company to be held on May 26, 2025 
thereof, for the purpose of acting on the proposals enumerated below. 

In case of absence of the Chairman of the Board and any substitute proxy designated by him at the Annual Meeting, the undersigned 
hereby grants the President of the Company or, in case of his absence, the Chairman of the Annual Meeting chosen in accordance with the 

-Laws, full power and authority to act as alternate proxy of the undersigned, for the same purposes specified in the preceding
paragraph. 

The proxy/substitute proxy/alternate proxy, as the case may be, shall vote subject to the instructions indicated below and the
proxy/substitute proxy/alternate proxy, as the case may be, is authorized to vote in his discretion upon other business as may properly come before 
the Annual Meeting and any adjournments or postponements thereof. Where no specific instruction is clearly indicated below, the proxy/substitute 
proxy/alternate proxy, as the case may be, shall vote and shall be deemed authorized to vote 3, 5, 7 and 8, and 

6.

PROPOSALS AND VOTING INSTRUCTIONS

3, 5, 7 and 8 6.

1. Approval of the Minutes of the Annual Meeting of the Stockholders held on May 27, 2024.
FOR AGAINST ABSTAIN

2. Approval of the audited financial statements for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2024 2024 Annual 
Report.

FOR AGAINST ABSTAIN

3. Election of 6 directors including 2 independent directors.
The nominees for election as directors/independent directors are:

1. Mr. Oscar J. Hilado (Independent Director) 4. Dr. Emerlinda R. Roman (Independent Director)
2. Mr. Manuel V. Pangilinan 5. Mr. Lorenzo V. Tan
3. Mr. Alfredo S. Panlilio 6. Mr. Danny Y. Yu

FOR ALL WITHHOLD FOR ALL EXCEPTIONS

Exceptions__________________________________________________________________
1. 4.
2. 5.
3. 6.

Instructions: 
1. A stockholder may withhold authority to vote for any or some nominee(s), by marking the exception box and writing the name(s) of such nominee(s) 
on the space provided above. If a stockholder designates exception(s), the number of shares to be distributed to each of the remaining nominees must 
be indicated on the spaces provided above. 

and cast equally among the 
nominee(s); (b) withhold his/her/its vote for all of the nominees; or (c) vote only for some and not all
total votes will be distributed and cast as indicated by the said stockholder in the spaces provided above. If a stockholder does not indicate the number 
of shares to be distributed among the remaining nom
will be split and cast equally among the remaining nominees. The total number of votes which a stockholder may cast is equal to six (6) times the 
number of shares held as of the Record Date. 

4. Election of external auditor.
SGV & Co. is nominated for election as external auditor

FOR AGAINST ABSTAIN

5. Approval of the Amendment of Section 1, Article II, of the Company s By-Laws-changing the day of when to hold the Annual
Meeting of Stockholders to last Monday of June of every year

FOR AGAINST ABSTAIN

_______________________________________ 
(Signature Over Printed Name) 

Stockholder 
Authorized Representative of Stockholder 

Date: ___________________, 2025



(Reverse Side of Stockholder Proxy)
GENERAL INFORMATION AND INSTRUCTIONS

1. Solicitation Information 

Solicitation of proxies for the Annual Meeting is being made by and on behalf of the Company. Solicitation of proxies in the Philippines 
will be undertaken mainly by mail and, in person or by telephone, by certain employees of the Company.
Officers and employees who will make the proxy solicitation on behalf of the Company will not be paid any additional compensation 
for proxy solicitation, except for reimbursement or reasonable transportation and representation expense estimated to be in the aggregate 
amount of P5,000. The cost of expenditures incidental to the proxy solicitation will be borne by the Company.

2. Interest of Certain Persons in or Opposition to Matters to be Acted Upon

No director/independent director or officer of the Company or nominee for election as director/independent director or officer of the 
Company and, to the best knowledge of the Company, no associate of a director/independent director or officer or nominee for election 
as a director/independent director or officer of the Company has any substantial interest, direct and indirect, by security holdings or 
otherwise, in any matter to be acted upon at the Annual Meeting, other than election to office.

No director/independent director has informed the Company in writing that he intends to oppose any action to be taken at the Annual 
Meeting.

3. Submission of Proxy

(a) The proxy form must be completed, signed and dated by the stockholder or his duly authorized representative, and received at the 
principal office and mailing address of the Company not later than 4:00 p.m. on May 21, 2025. The proxy form need not be notarized.
(b) If the shares of stock are owned by two or more joint owners, the proxy form must be signed by all of the joint owners.

(d) If the shares of stock are owned by a corporation, association, partnership or unincorporated entity, the proxy form must be 
accompanied by a certification, signed by a duly authorized officer, partner or representative of such corporation, association, partnership 
or unincorporated entity, to the effect that the person signing the proxy form has been authorized by the governing body or has the power 
pursuant to the By-Laws, constitutive documents or duly approved policies of such corporation, association, partnership or 
unincorporated entity, for such purpose.
(e) A proxy form given by a broker or dealer in respect of shares of stock carried by such broker or dealer for the account of a customer 
must be supported by a sworn certification that the same is given with the express prior authorization of such customer. 
(f) If any customer of a broker or dealer who is the beneficial owner of shares of stock executes a sub-proxy, the broker or dealer shall 
certify that the signature on the sub-proxy is the true and genuine signature of its customer.
(g) If the proxy is undated, the postmark or, if not mailed, its actual date of presentation shall be considered. If the Company receives 
more than one (1) proxy form from the same stockholder and they are all undated, the postmark dates shall be considered. If the proxy 
forms are mailed on the same date, the one bearing the latest time of day of postmark shall be recognized. If the proxy forms are not 
mailed, then the time of their actual presentation shall be considered and that which is presented last shall be recognized.
(h) If the same stockholder gives two (2) or more proxy forms for the same number of shares owned by him, the latest one given shall 
be deemed to revoke all proxy forms priorly given by said stockholder.

4. Period of Validity of Proxy 

A proxy given by a stockholder shall be valid and effective only for the Annual Meeting on May 26, 2025 and any adjournments or 
postponements thereof, except if the stockholder shall have indicated in the proxy form that it is valid and effective for use in other 
meetings of stockholders of the Company. However, in no case shall any proxy given by a stockholder be valid and effective for a period 
longer than five (5) years. 

5. Revocation of Proxy 

A stockholder who has given a proxy has the power to revoke it by a written instrument duly signed and dated, which must be received 
at the 10/F Smart Tower, 6799 Ayala Avenue, Makati City 1226 
Stock Transfer Department, 15th Floor South Tower BDO Corporate Center, 7899 Makati Avenue, Makati City, not later than 4:00 p.m. 
on May 21, 2025. A proxy is also considered revoked if an individual stockholder attends the meeting in person and expresses his 
intention to vote in person. 

6. Validation of Proxies

The last day for validation of proxies will be on May 23, 2025. Validation of proxies will be done by the Corporate Secretary and persons 
designated by the Corporate Secretary who shall be under her supervision and control, in accordance with the procedure and guidelines 

-Laws and Rule 20.11.2 of the Amended Implementing Rules and Regulations of the SRC. Pursuant to the
-Laws, all issues relative to proxies, including the validity and effectivity of proxies, shall be decided by the Corporate 

Secretary and any decision of the Corporate Secretary thereon shall be final and binding unless set aside by a court of competent 
jurisdiction 
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CERTAIN CONVENTIONS AND TERMS USED IN THIS ANNUAL REPORT

Unless the context indicates or otherwise , ,
annual report mean Digital Telecommunications Phils., Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries, and references to 

mean Digital Telecommunications Phils., Inc., excluding consolidated 
subsidiaries.

Any discrepancies in any table between totals and the sums of the amounts listed are due to rounding.

In this annual report, each reference to: 

BIR means Bureau of Internal Revenue;

CDMA means code division multiple access;

CEO means Chief Executive Officer;

CMTS means cellular mobile telephone system;

CPCN means Certificate of Public Convenience and Necessity;

DICT means Department of Information and Communications Technology;

DMPI means Digitel Mobile Philippines, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of Digitel, that owns the Sun
business;

EBITDA means Earnings before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization;

FLA means Facility Lease Agreement;

GAAP means generally accepted accounting principles;

Globe means Globe Telecom, Inc.;

GSM means global system for mobile communications;

HSPA means high-speed packet access;

IGF means international gateway facility;

LEC means local exchange carrier;

LTE means long-term evolution;

GNC means Governance and Nomination Committee;

NDD means national direct dialing;

NGN means Next Generation Network;

NTC means the National Telecommunications Commission of the Philippines;

OTT means over-the-top;

PFRS means Philippine Financial Reporting Standards;

Philippine SEC means the Philippine Securities and Exchange Commission;

PLDT means PLDT Inc.;

PSE means the Philippine Stock Exchange, Inc.;

SIM means subscriber identification module;

Smart means Smart Communications, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of PLDT;

SMS means short messaging service;

SRC means the Securities Regulation Code of the Philippines;

VoIP means voice over internet protocol.
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SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 
 

SEC FORM 17-A 
 

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 17 
 OF THE SECURITIES REGULATION CODE AND SECTION 141 

OF THE CORPORATION CODE OF THE PHILIPPINES 
 

1. For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024 
 

2. SEC Identification Number   0000145111       3.  BIR Tax Identification No. 000-449-918-000 
 

4. Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter: DIGITAL TELECOMMUNICATIONS  
PHILS., INC. 
 

5. Republic of the Philippines               6. _________ (SEC Use Only) 
 Province, Country or other jurisdiction of               Industry Classification Code: 
  incorporation or organization 
 
7. 8003-A Matalino Street, Diliman, Quezon City, Metro Manila.                       .     1104      . 
       Address of principal office                               Postal Code 
 
8.   09285590433                                                                     
  telephone number, including area code 
 
9.   Not applicable                                                                                                            .                                        

Former Name, former address, and former fiscal year, if changed since last report 
 
10. Securities registered pursuant to Sections 8 and 12 of the Securities Regulation code, or Sec. 4 

and 8 of the then Revised Securities Act. 
                             
  Title of Each Class                Number of Shares of Common Stock Outstanding  
 Common stock, P=0.10 par value   26,142,671,992 (as at December 31, 2024) 
 
11. Are any or all of these securities listed on the Philippine Stock Exchange. 
 
   Yes [     ]       No [  ] 
 
12. Check whether the registrant: 
 

(a)  has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 17 of the SRC and SRC Rule 17 
thereunder or Section 11 of the RSA and RSA Rule 11(a)-1 thereunder, and Sections 26 
and 141 of the Corporation Code of the Philippines during the preceding twelve (12) 
months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports): 

   
Yes [   ] No [     ]     

 
 (b) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. 
   

Yes [   ] No [     ]  
 



 
 

PART I - BUSINESS AND GENERAL INFORMATION 
 
Item 1. Business 
 
Overview 

 
Established in the Philippines on August 31, 1987, Digital Telecommunications Phils., Inc  
was registered with the Philippine SEC and was enfranchised to provide domestic and international 
telecommunications services nationwide.  On October 26, 2011, PLDT acquired a controlling stake in 
Digitel from JG Summit Holdings, Inc. and certain related parties of the latter and initiated a tender 
offer to acquire remaining non-controlling interest.  As at December 31, 2024, PLDT owned 
approximately 99.6% of the outstanding common stock of Digitel.  

 
Digitel ceased operating as a public telecommunications entity effective February 17, 2019 upon the 
expiration of its franchise under 
Telecommunications Phils, Inc., A Franchise To Install, Operate And Maintain Telecommunications 

 
 

Digital Telecommunications Phils., Inc and Subsidiaries (Digitel Group) operations are divided into 
two key business units: Wireless and Fixed Line.  
 
We monitor the results of each business unit separately for purposes of making decisions about 
resource allocation and performance assessment. For a more detailed discussion, see Note 4 
Operating Segment Information to the accompanying audited consolidated financial statements in 
Item 7.  

 
Wireless  
 
Our wireless arm, Digitel Mobile Phils., Inc. (DMPI), has consolidated its processes with Smart 
Communications, Inc. (Smart) to be able to provide better service to our subscriber base.  Major 
processes were aligned with Smart to further enhance business partnering, maximize efficiencies in 
the current workforce and magnify the advantage of the combined networks. 
 

subscriber base (both individual and corporate) including all of its assets, rights and obligations 
directly or indirectly connected to its postpaid cellular and broadband operations effective                  
November 1, 2018 with the effectivity of the transfer, the remaining business of DMPI pertains to its 
prepaid mobile operation. 
 
On October 21, 2020, Smart and DMPI entered into a Rebranding Agreement wherein Sun Prepaid 
subscribers were rebranded as Smart Prepaid subscribers. Post-rebranding, the ownership of Sun 
Prepaid subscribers remains under DMPI. Under the terms of the agreement, Smart settles a fixed fee 

distributed subscriber revenues. 
 
In April 2022, we implemented the rebranding of Individual Sun Postpaid into Smart Postpaid. Sun 
subscribers retained their existing Sun numbers, SIM and plan inclusions while enjoying the services 
and perks of a Smart subscriber such as Smart 5G, access to the Smart App, Smart notifications and 
billing, and other Smart add-ons and features. The subscribers may also avail of the Signature plan 
which provides a better experience, access to  mobile network, better plan packages 
and latest devices. 
 
The brand consolidation under Smart aims to strengthen market position, achieve cost-efficiency and 

subscribers. 
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The integrated wireless network that Smart and DMPI provide is extensive voice and broadband 
coverage in the Philippines, covering substantially all of major metropolitan areas and most of the 
other population centers in the Philippines.  Our low spectrum band resources are primarily used to 
provide coverage whilst higher spectrum bands provide coverage and additional capacity.  Our 
wireless broadband network supports HSPA+, LTE-Advanced, and 5G to provide an improved data 
experience for our customers. 
 
Fixed Line 
 
Fixed line business which offered voice, data and miscellaneous services, was carried by the Parent 
Company.  Our fixed line subscribers were all migrated to the network of PLDT as of January 2018.   
 
On July 1, 2013, Digitel entered into an agreement to sell its subscription assets to PLDT for a total 
cost of approximately P=5.3 billion.  The agreement covered the transfer, assignment and conveyance 

list and included a transition mechanism to ensure 
uninterrupted availability of services to the Digitel subscribers, until migration of said subscribers to 
the PLDT network was completed.  The transaction was in line with the commitment to increase the 

synergies and operating efficiencies 
within the PLDT Group.  Accordingly, a FLA was 

 network and facilities to ensure uninterrupted provision of the LEC services to subscribers 
who had yet to be migrated to the PLDT network.  Following the migration of all our fixed line 
subscribers as of January 2018, the FLA with PLDT was terminated in November 2018. 
 
Digitel ceased operating as a public telecommunications entity effective February 17, 2019. 
 
Products and Services, Rates and Revenues 
 
Wireless  
 
We provide mobile and other services through our wireless business.   
 
The following table summarizes key measures of our wireless business as at and for the years ended 
December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022: 

 
 December 31, 
 2024 2023 2022 
    
Mobile service revenues (in millions) P=6,333 P=7,106 P=7,203 

Distributed subscriber revenues 5,301 5,520 5,529 
Others 1,032 1,586 1,674 

Percentage of wireless service revenues to total service revenues  100% 100% 100% 

 
Mobile Services 

 
Through Smart, we offer mobile communications services which include mobile data, voice, and SMS 
all over the country. With continuous and in-depth consumer understanding program, we commit to 
provide relevant products and cater to the communications, entertainment and service requirements of 
our target market segments. 
 
The rebranding of Sun Prepaid to Smart, enables the subscribers to have access to expanded retail and 
customer care channels, and a wide array of data-centric offers. Following this development, 
rebranded subscribers can avail of Data bundles, including the newest offers, Power All, All Data and 
Magic Data Sun 
Prepaid include Call & Text Combo, and Unlimited Calls and Text are still available for 
the rebranded subscribers. 
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The rebranding of Sun Postpaid to Smart enables the subscribers to enjoy the full range of available 
services such as robust Smart 5G speeds with Smart 5G network, simpler account management with 
the Smart App and easily upgrade to the Smart Signature experience. 

Rates 
 
Post-

obligation to make all existing DMPI load offers and promos which were conceptualized, reviewed 

prior consent. 
 

Sun Prepaid subscribers may top up via Smart prepaid load cards.  Smart Prepaid call and text cards 
which are available are sold in denominations of P=100, P=300 and P=500.  
 

-the-air reloads called Smart eLoad, which ranges from P=10 to P=1,000 are available 
through the Smart app, Smart and PLDT online stores, e-wallet providers such as Maya (formerly 
PayMaya), e-commerce platforms such as Lazada and Shoppee and via Smart eLoad retailers 
nationwide.  The stored value of a prepaid card and eLoads remain valid for 365 days regardless of 
the denomination, pursuant to the Joint Memorandum Circular No. 05-12-2017 issued by the NTC 

 
 
Smart also provides open-access data offers with its Magic Data, All Data and Power All services. 
These data packages provide access to any app or website and are priced from P=50 to P=499. 
 
In view of the SIM Registration Act, we recognize a prepaid mobile subscriber as active upon 
registration of the SIM card. Beginning in the fourth quarter of 2023, we consider a prepaid mobile 
subscriber as churned if the subscriber does not reload within 180 days after the full usage or expiry 
of the last reload and does not latch to the network within 180 days. Our current policy is to recognize 
a prepaid subscriber as active only when the subscriber activates and uses the SIM card.  We consider 
a prepaid mobile subscriber inactive if the subscriber does not reload within 90 days after the full 
usage or expiry of the last reload, revised from the previous 120 days. 
 
For international roaming, we offer various data roaming packages such as GigaRoam with up to 
100GB for 10 days on popular travel destinations like Japan, South Korea, Thailand, Saudi Arabia, 
USA and many more.  Data roaming plans ranges from Php150 to Php9,999, and are open to both 
prepaid and postpaid subscribers. 
 
Fixed Line 

 
Until February 17, 2019, we provided LEC services, including international and domestic voice 
services, data and miscellaneous services under our fixed line business. 

 
The following table summarizes key measures of our fixed line services as at and for the years ended 
December 31, 2024, 2023, 2022 and 2021: 

 
 December 31, 
 2024 2023 2022 2021 
Number of fixed line employees 1 1 1 1 
     
Fixed line service revenues (in millions) P=  P=  P=  P=  

Miscellaneous     
Percentage of fixed line service revenues to total service revenues      
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 Miscellaneous Service Revenues 
 
This represents charges for the use of network facilities and reimbursement of maintenance cost and 
other operating expenses to service  
 
Infrastructure 
 
Wireless Network Infrastructure  

 

mobile services, Smart and DMPI have implemented an extensive deployment program for their GSM 
network covering substantially all of Metropolitan Manila and most of the other population centers in 
the Philippines.   
 
Through Smart, DMPI has been continually extending its LTE capacity and rolling out more physical 
sites to widen our coverage in order to sustain the growing demand for our services.  
 
Moreover, in tangent with its ongoing LTE-Advanced roll-out, Smart is deploying 5G-capable 
equipment.  Smart started rolling out 5G and upgrading the core and transport elements of its network, 
including upgrading the backhaul to support 5G speed. Smart has completed 5G pilots and has 
pioneered 5G cities in Makati and Pampanga in 2018, and a 5G lifestyle hub with the Araneta Group, 
a 5G Campus with Ateneo de Manila University, and the first 5G Stadium at New Clark City during 
the 30th Southeast Asian Games in 2019. Smart ramped up its 5G leadership in 2020 when they fired 
up its commercial 5G SA sites in Makati City where they powered up one of the first 5G SA networks 
in the world. In 
out thousands of 5G sites to become the 5G Leader in the Philippines. Smart continues to lead 5G 
innovations in 2022, being the first in the Philippines to test end-to-end network slicing and low earth 

 
 

to instill it with new capabilities, such as automation, network slicing and improved resiliency, while 
supporting massive data traffic growth.   
 
Furthermore, Smart continues to evolve the voice core network through ongoing transformation 

make and receive voice calls in WiFi environments, and Voice over LTE, which provides high quality 
voice calls and faster call setup times. 
 
Licenses and Regulations 
 
Licenses 
 
Digitel provided its fixed line telecommunications services pursuant to its legislative franchise,     
R.A. 7678.  A franchise holder is required to obtain operating authority from the NTC to provide 
specific telecommunications services.  These approvals may take the form of CPCN, or, while an 
application for a CPCN is pending, a provisional authority to operate.  Provisional authorities are 
typically granted for a period of 18 months.   
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Digitel ceased operating as a public telecommunications entity providing fixed line services effective 
February 17, 2019, the expiration of its franchise granted under 
Act Granting The Digital Telecommunications Phils, Inc., A Franchise To Install, Operate And 

 
 
Wireless services are served by DMPI. On August 28, 2003, the NTC approved the assignment by 
Digitel of its authority to construct, install, operate and maintain a nationwide CMTS using GSM 
and/or CDMA technology to its wholly-owned subsidiary, DMPI.  DMPI operates under the trade 
name Sun and is likewise a grantee of a 25-year legislative franchise under R.A. 9180, which will 
expire on April 1, 2028.   
 

 
 

Service/Technology Bands (in MHz) Bandwidth 

CDMA 2000 1900 2 channels of 1.25 MHz of bandwidth  

WCDMA 2100 10 MHz x 2 

TD-LTE 2500 15 MHz 

TD-LTE 3400 30 MHz 

GSM 1800 1800 17.5 MHz x 2 

Competition  

 
There are five major local exchange carriers, seven major international gateway facility providers and 
three major mobile operators in the Philippines. Some new entrants into the Philippine 
telecommunications market have entered into strategic alliances with foreign telecommunications 
companies, which provide them with access to technological and funding support, as well as service 
innovations and marketing strategies. 
 
Mobile Service  

 
Currently, there are three major mobile operators, namely PLDT (which owns Smart and DMPI), 
Globe Telecom Inc (Globe) and Dito Telecommunity Corporation (DITO).  Mobile market 
penetration in the Philippines was approximately 123% based on the number of SIM cards issued.  

Competition in the mobile telecommunications industry has intensified with greater availability of 
unlimited offers from the telecommunications operators resulting in increased volumes of data usage, 
calls and texts but declining yields.  Globe continues to compete aggressively to gain revenue market 
share, with particular focus on the regional and local levels. Competition also increased in the 
postpaid space with more aggressive promotions involving greater handset subsidies.  The principal 
bases of competition are price, including handset prices in the case of postpaid plans, quality of 
service, network reliability, geographic coverage and attractiveness of packaged services, including 
video content.    

In recent years, the prevalence of OTT services, such as social media, instant messaging and internet 
telephone, also known as VoIP services, has greatly affected our legacy revenues namely voice and 
SMS.  We are also facing growing competition from providers offering services using alternative 
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wireless technologies and IP-based networks, including efforts by the Philippine government to roll-
out its free WiFi services to various municipalities in the country. 
 
Data Services 
 
The market for data services has been the fastest growing segment in the Philippine 
telecommunications industry. This development has been spurred by the significant growth in 
consumer and retail broadband internet access, enterprise resource planning applications, customer 
relationship management, knowledge processing solutions, online gaming and other e-services that 
drive the need for broadband and internet-protocol based solutions both in the Philippines and abroad. 
Our major competitors in this area are Globe and Converge ICT Solutions, Inc.. The principal bases of 
competition in the data services market are coverage, price, content, value for money, bundles or free 
gifts, user experience and customer service. PLDT, the Parent Company, remains committed to 
compete in this segment by leveraging on its overall strategy to focus on customeer centricity, 
maintain network leadership, broaden its distribution paltform and increas its ability to deliver 
multimedia content. 
 
Governmental Regulations 
 
As a public utility, we are subject to governmental regulations with respect to our operations, services, 
rates and ownership.  We believe that we are in compliance with all applicable governmental 
regulations and that our relations with government regulators are satisfactory. 
 
Compliance with Environmental Laws 
 
We have not been subject to any material fines or legal or regulatory action involving noncompliance 
with environmental regulations of the Philippines.  We are not aware of any noncompliance in any 
material respect with relevant environmental protection regulations. 

 
Employees   

 
The Digitel Group had 1 regular employee as at December 31, 2024.   

 
 December 31, 
 2024 2023 2022 2021 
Digitel Group 1 1 1 1 
Wireless     
 Fixed 1 1 1 1 

 
See Note 18 - Income and Expenses to the accompanying audited consolidated financial statements in 
Item 7 for further discussion. 
 
Item 2.  Properties  
 
Digitel Group improvements currently 
held as Investment Properties. 
 
For more information on these properties, see Note 22  Fair Value Measurement  Investment 
Properties to the accompanying audited consolidated financial statements in Item 7. 

 
 

Item 3.  Legal Proceedings  
 
 Except as disclosed in Note 23  Commitments and Contingencies to the accompanying audited 

consolidated financial statements in Item 7 , neither Digitel nor any of its 
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subsidiaries is a party to, and none of their respective properties is subject to, any pending legal 
proceedings that Digitel considers to be potentially material to  business. 

 
Item 4.  Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders 

    
There were no matters submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of 2024 
covered by this annual report. 

 
PART II - OPERATIONAL AND FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

 
Item 5.    

  
Common Capital Stock 
 
Stock Prices 
 
On January 24, 2012, Digitel filed for voluntary delisting of its shares with the PSE, since its public 
ownership level had fallen below the minimum 10% required by the PSE.  On February 22, 2012, the 
PSE granted the petition for voluntary delisting and accordingly ordered the delisting of the shares of 
Digitel from the Official Registry of the PSE effective March 26, 2012.  The last trading date of 
Digitel shares was on March 20, 2012 which closed at P=1.45 per share. 
 
Top 20 Stockholders  
 
As at December 31, 2024, there were 4,928 
below were the top 20 common shareholders, including their nationalities, the number of shares held, 
the amount of their holdings, and the approximate percentages of their respective shareholdings to 
Di  
 

         Approximate 
     Number    % to Total 
     of Shares  Amount of  Outstanding 
 Name of Holder of Record  Nationality  Held  Holding  Common Stock 

         
1. PLDT  Filipino          26,043,279,329                 P=2,604,327,933                  99.62  

2. Thorton Horton Holdings, Inc.  British                 26,680,810                          2,668,081                   0.10  

3. Chak Ching Chan  Filipino                 11,614,000                          1,161,400                   0.04  
4. Seven (7) R. Port Services, Inc.  Filipino                   5,000,000                             500,000                   0.02  
5. PCD Nominee Corporation  Filipino                2,395,411   239,541  

0.01     Various  682,000  68,200  
6. BPI Sec Corp Fao Charlie D. Misaghi  Filipino                   2,759,000                             275,900                   0.01  
7. Margarita Oppen  Filipino                   1,830,000                             183,000                   0.01  
8. De Tuazon Paz A.  Filipino                   1,663,500                             166,350                   0.01  
9. Michael S. Chua  Filipino  1,406,000  140,600  0.01 

10. Alvin Rey C. Sia  Filipino                   1,000,000                             100,000                   0.00  
11. Lawrence C. Sia  Filipino                   1,000,000                             100,000                   0.00  
12. Anthony U. Que  Filipino                      940,000                               94,000                   0.00  
13. Ilene V. Acuna  Filipino                      937,000                               93,700                   0.00  
14. CBC as Investment Agent for IMA  Filipino                      815,600                               81,560                   0.00  
15. Ronald Arellano Vallar  Filipino                      800,000                               80,000                   0.00  
16. BPI Securities Corporation Fao Reynaldo C.  Filipino  609,000  60,900  0.00 
17. Citibank Na Fao 1100050018  Filipino  600,000  60,000  0.00 
18. Leoncio Chungunco  Filipino  588,900  58,890  0.00 
19. Choa Siu Tin  Filipino  500,000  50,000  0.00 
20. Manuel Chua Co Kiong / Judy Chua Co Kiong  Filipino  500,000  50,000  0.00 

            26,105,600,550         P=2,610,560,055    
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Dividends 
 
On December 5, 2023, the BOD of the Parent Company declared cash dividends amounting to                    
P=2,259 million (P=0.0864 per share) to all common shareholders of record as at December 15, 2023. 
The cash dividends to the minority shareholders was paid on January 5, 2024, while the cash 
dividends to the majority shareholder, PLDT Inc., was fully paid on December 5, 2024.   
 
On December 15, 2022, the BOD of the Parent Company declared cash dividends amounting to                   
P=3,137 million (P=0.12 per share) to all common shareholders of record as at December 31, 2022. The 
cash dividends to the minority shareholders was paid on January 13, 2023, while the cash dividends to 
the majority shareholder, PLDT Inc., was fully paid on December 13, 2023. 
 
On November 4, 2021, the BOD of the Parent Company declared cash dividends of P=0.0192 per share 
to all common shareholders of record as of November 15, 2021 which was paid on                   
Novemver 29, 2021 amounting to P=502 million. 
 
Item 6.  of Financial Condition and Results of 
Operations 
 
The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be 
read in conjunction with our audited consolidated financial statements and the related notes as at 
December 31, 2024 and 2023 and for each of the three years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 
2022 included elsewhere in this Annual Report. This discussion contains forward-looking statements 
that reflect our current views with respect to future events and our future financial performance.  
These statements involve risks and uncertainties, and our actual results may differ materially from 
those anticipated in these forward-looking statements. 
 
Selected Financial Data and Key Performance Indicators 
(In millions, except EBITDA margin, basic/dilutive earnings per share and net debt-to-equity ratio) 

 
 Years ended December 31, 
 2024 2023 2022
Income Statement Data:   
Revenues  P=6,333 P=7,106 P=7,203
Expenses 3,275 3,634 3,874
Other income 131 1,037 3,063
Income before income tax 3,189 4,509 6,392
Net income  2,628 3,777 5,195
Core income 2,593 3,215 2,213
EBITDA 3,359 3,781 3,642
EBITDA margin (1) 53% 53% 51%
Basic/dilutive earnings per common share 0.10 0.14 0.20
Other Data:    
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities  2,341 2,676 (4,967)
Net cash provided by investing activities  220 824 5,271

Capital expenditures    
Net cash used in financing activities  (2,604) (3,500) (359)
Operational Data:    
Number of employees  1 1 1

Wireless   
Fixed line 1 1 1

(1) EBITDA margin for the period is measured as EBITDA divided by service revenues. 
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Overview 
 

Digitel was one of the major providers of wireline communication systems in Luzon Island.  In 
September 2001, Digitel established a wholly-owned subsidiary, DMPI, to provide wireless 
telecommunication services in the Philippines.  
telecommunications companies. We have organized our business into business units based on our 
products and services and have two reportable operating segments which serve as the basis for 

 
 

 Wireless  Wireless communication services are composed of distributed subscriber revenues and 

proportionate share on the distributed subscriber revenues and reimbursement by Smart for certain 
network related charges.; and  
 

 Fixed Line  fixed line segment is carried by the Parent Company. As at January 1, 2018, Digitel 
fully migrated its subscribers to the PLDT network.  
 

Key performance indicators and drivers that our management uses to monitor and direct the operation 
of our businesses include, among others, the general economic conditions in the Philippines, market 
trends including customer demands, behavior and satisfaction parameters; technological 
developments, network performance (speed, coverage, capacity), market share and profitability.  
 
Performance Indicators 
 
We use a number of non-GAAP performance indicators to monitor financial performance. These are 
summarized below and discussed later in this report. 

 
EBITDA   

EBITDA for the year is measured as net income excluding depreciation, impairment non-financial 
asset, accretion expense of lease liabilities, foreign exchange gains (losses)  net, gains (losses) on 
disposal of fixed assets, interest income, rental income, provision for (benefit from) income tax and 
other income  net.  EBITDA is monitored by the management for each business unit separately for 
purposes of making decisions about resource allocation and performance assessment.  EBITDA is 
presented because our management believes that it is widely used by investors in their analysis of the 
performance of Digitel and can assist them in their comparison of Digitel
other companies in the telecommunications sector.  We also present EBITDA because it is used by 

ability to incur and service debt, make capital 
expenditures and meet working capital requirements.  Companies in the telecommunications sector 
have historically reported EBITDA as a supplement to financial measures in accordance with PFRS.  
EBITDA should not be considered as an alternative to net income as an indicator of our performance, 
nor should EBITDA be considered an alternative to cash flows from operating activities as a measure 
of liquidity or as an alternative to any other measure determined in accordance with PFRS.  Unlike net 
income, EBITDA does not include depreciation or financing costs and, therefore, does not reflect 
current or future capital expenditures or the cost of capital.  We compensate for these limitations by 
using EBITDA as only one of several comparative tools, together with PFRS-based measurements, to 
assist in the evaluation of operating performance.  Such PFRS-based measurements include income 
before income tax, net income, cash flows from operations and cash flow data.  We have significant 
uses of cash flows, including capital expenditures, interest payments, debt principal repayments, taxes 
and other non-recurring charges, which are not reflected in EBITDA.  Our calculation of EBITDA 
may be different from the calculation methods used by other companies and, therefore, comparability 
may be limited. 
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The following table shows the reconciliation of our consolidated EBITDA to our consolidated net 
income for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022: 
 

 December 31, 
 2024 2023 2022 
 (In millions) 

    
Consolidated net income  P=2,628 P=3,777 P=5,195 
Add (deduct) adjustments:    
     Provision for income tax 561 732 1,197 

Depreciation 301 309 288 
Accretion expense on lease liabilities 51 60 55 
Losses (gains) on fair value change on perpetual notes 24 (230) 2,098 
Impairment on creditable withholding tax 1  25 
Gains on disposal of fixed assets (1) (1) (1) 
Rental income (4) (5) (13) 
Reversal of long outstanding accruals (32)  (1,144) 
Gain on sale of telecom towers (41) (661) (3,508) 
Distribution income on perpetual notes (191) (191) (258) 
Interest income  (2) (3) 
Other income (expenses)  net 62 (7) (289) 

Total adjustments 731 4 (1,553) 
Consolidated EBITDA P=3,359 P=3,781 P=3,642 

 
Core Income  
Core income for the year is measured as net income, excluding gain on sale of telecom towers, foreign 
exchange gains (losses)  net, and net tax effect of aforementioned adjustments, as applicable.  Core 
income results are monitored by the management for each business unit separately for purposes of 
making decisions about resource allocation and performance assessment.  Core income should not be 
considered as an alternative to income before income tax or net income determined in accordance 
with PFRS as an indicator of our performance.  Unlike net income, core income does not include 
foreign exchange gains and losses, gains and losses on derivative financial instruments, asset 
impairments and other non-recurring gains and losses.  We compensate for these limitations by using 
core income as only one of several comparative tools, together with PFRS-based measurements, to 
assist in the evaluation of operating performance.  Such PFRS-based measurements include income 
before income tax and net income.  Our calculation of core income may be different from the 
calculation methods used by other companies and, therefore, comparability may be limited.  
 
The following table shows the reconciliation of our consolidated core income to our consolidated net 
income for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022: 
 

 December 31, 
 2023 2023 2022 
 (In millions) 

    
Consolidated net income  P=2,628 P=3,777 P=5,195 
Add (deduct) adjustments:    

Gain on sale of telecom towers (41) (661) (3,508) 
Foreign exchange gains  net  (1)  
Net tax effect of aforementioned adjustments 6 100 526 

Total adjustments (35) (562) (2,982) 
Consolidated core income P=2,593 P=3,215 P=2,213 
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The following table shows the reconciliation of our consolidated basic and diluted core earnings per 
share, or EPS, to our consolidated basic and diluted EPS attributable to common equity holders of 
Digitel for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022: 
 

 December 31, 
 2024 2023 2022 
  

    
Consolidated basic and diluted EPS attributable to common  P=0.10 P=0.12 P=0.08 
     equity holders of Digitel    
Add (deduct) adjustments:    

Gain on sale of telecom towers  0.03 0.14
Net tax effect of aforementioned adjustments  (0.01) (0.02)

Consolidated basic and diluted core EPS P=0.10 P=0.14 P=0.20 

 
Results of Operations 
 
The table shows the contribution by each of our business segments to our consolidated revenues, 
expenses, other income (expenses)  net, income (loss) before income tax, net income (loss), 
EBITDA, EBITDA margin and core income for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022.  
In each of the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, a majority of our revenues are derived 
from our operations within the Philippines.  Our revenues derived from outside the Philippines consist 
primarily of revenues from incoming international calls to the Philippines. 
 

   Inter-segment  
 Wireless Fixed Line Transactions Consolidated 
 (In millions) 

For the year ended December 31, 2024     
Revenues P=6,333   P=6,333 
Expenses 3,218 57  3,275 
Other income  66 65  131 
Income before income tax 3,181 8  3,189 
Provision for income tax 563 1 (3) 561 
Net income / Segment profit  2,618 7 3 2,628 
EBITDA 3,415 (56)  3,359 
EBITDA margin (1) 54%   53% 
Core income 2,583 7 3 2,593 

 
For the year ended December 31, 2023     
Revenues P=7,106   P=7,106 
Expenses 3,547 88 (1) 3,634 
Other income  981 57 (1) 1,037 
Income before income tax 4,540 (31)  4,509 
Provision for (benefit from) income tax 733 (1)  732 
Net income (loss)/ Segment profit (loss) 3,807 (30)  3,777 
EBITDA 3,869 (88)  3,781 
EBITDA margin (1) 54%   53% 
Core income 3,245 (30)  3,215 

 
   Inter-segment  
 Wireless Fixed Line Transactions Consolidated 
 (In millions) 
For the year ended December 31, 2022     
Revenues P=7,203   P=7,203 
Expenses 3,760 114  3,874 
Other income  2,319 744  3,063 
Income before income tax 5,762 630  6,392 
Provision for income tax 1,191 6  1,197 
Net income / Segment profit 4,571 624  5,195 
EBITDA 3,730 (88)  3,642 
EBITDA margin (1) 52%   51% 
Core income 1,588 625  2,213 
(1) EBITDA margin for the period is measured as EBITDA divided by service revenues. 
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Years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 
 
On a Consolidated Basis 
 
Revenues 
 
We reported consolidated revenues of P=6,333 million in 2024, a decrease of P=773 million, or 11%, as 
compared with P=7,106 million in 2023, due to lower revenues from our wireless business. 
 
Expenses 

 
Consolidated expenses decreased by P=359 million, or 10%, to P=3,275 million in 2024 from                           
P=3,634 million in 2023, largely as a result of lower repairs and maintenance, taxes and licenses, 
royalty expense, depreciation, and professional and other contracted services.  This was partly offset 
by higher rent and other expenses. 
 
The following table shows the breakdown of our consolidated expenses by business segment for the 
years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023: 

 
     Change 
 2024 % 2023 % Amount % 
 (In millions) 

       
Wireless P=3,218 98 P=3,547 98 (P=329) (9) 
Fixed line 57 2 88 2 (31) (35) 
Intersegment   (1)  1 (100) 
Consolidated P=3,275 100 P=3,634 100 (P=359) (10) 

 
Other Income  

 
Consolidated other income decreased by P=906 million, or 87%, to P=131 million in 2024 from             
P=1,037 million in 2023, primarily due to the combined effects of the following: (i) loss on fair value 
change on perpetual notes of P=24 million as against gain on fair value change on perpetual notes of                 
P=230 million in 2023 (ii) lower gain on sale of telecom towers by P=620 million; (iii) lower rental 
income by P=1 million; (iv) lower interest income by P=2 million; (v) lower financing costs by P=9 
million; (vi) reversal of long outstanding accruals of  P=32 million as compared to nil in 2023; and (vii) 
other expenses  net of P=62 million as against other income  net of P=7 million in 2023. 
 
The following table shows the breakdown of our consolidated other income by business segment for 
the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023: 

 
     Change 
 2024 % 2023 % Amount % 
 (In millions) 

       
Wireless P=66 50 P=981 95 (P=915) (93) 
Fixed line 65 50 57 5 8 14 
Intersegment   (1)  1 100 
Consolidated P=131 100 P=1,037 100 (P=906) (87) 

 
Net Income  

 
We reported a consolidated net income of P=2,628 million in 2024, a decrease of P=1,149 million, or 
30%, from P=3,777 million in 2023.  The decrease was mainly due to the combined effects of the 
following: (i) lower consolidated revenues by P=773 million; (ii) lower expenses by P=359 million;       
(iii) lower provision for income tax by P=171 million; and (iv) lower other income by P=906 million.   
Our consolidated basic/dilutive earnings per share amounted to P=0.10 and P=0.14 in 2024 and 2023, 
respectively. 
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The following table shows the breakdown of our consolidated net income by business segment for the 
years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023: 

 
     Change 
 2024 % 2023 % Amount % 
 (In millions) 

       
Wireless P=2,618 100 P=3,807 101 (P=1,189) (31) 
Fixed line 7  (30) (1) 37 (123) 
Intersegment 3    3 100 
Consolidated P=2,628 100 P=3,777 100 (P=1,149) (30) 

 
EBITDA 
 
We reported a consolidated EBITDA of P=3,359 million in 2024, lower by P=422 million, or 11%, from 
P=3,781 million in 2023, primarily due to lower revenues, partly offset by the decrease in expenses. 
 
 The following table shows the breakdown of our consolidated EBITDA by business segment for the 
years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023: 
 

     Change 
 2024 % 2023 % Amount % 
 (In millions) 

       
Wireless P=3,415 102 P=3,869 102 (P=454) (12) 
Fixed line (56) (2) (88) (2) 32 (36) 
Consolidated P=3,359 100 P=3,781 100 (P=422) (11) 

 
Core Income 
 
Our consolidated core income decreased by P=622 million, or 19%, to P=2,593 million in 2024 from                     
P=3,215 million in 2023 primarily due to lower core income from our wireless business segment partly 
offset by higher core income from our fixed line business segment. 
 
The following table shows the breakdown of our consolidated core income by business segment for 
the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023: 

 
     Change 
 2024 % 2023 % Amount % 
 (In millions) 

       
Wireless P=2,583 100 P=3,245 101 (P=662) (20) 
Fixed line 7  (30) (1) 37 123 
Intersegment 3    3 100 
Consolidated P=2,593 100 P=3,215 100 (P=622) (19) 

 
On a Business Segment Basis 

Wireless 

 
Revenues  

 
We generated revenues from our wireless business of P=6,333 million in 2024, a decrease of                           
P=773 million, or 11%, from P=7,106 million in 2023.   

 
The following table summarizes our total revenues by service from our Wireless business segment for 
the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023: 
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     Increase (Decrease) 
 2024 % 2023 % Amount % 
 (In millions) 

Service Revenues:       
Distributed subscriber revenues  P=5,301 84 P=5,520 78 (P=219) (4) 
Others 1,032 16 1,586 22 (554) (35) 

Total Wireless Service Revenues 6,333 100 7,106 100 (773) (11) 
 

 
Service Revenues  

 
Our wireless service revenues decreased by P=773 million, or 11%, to P=6,333 million in 2024 as 
compared with P=7,106 million in 2023, mainly as a result of lower revenues from facility service fees. 

 
Distributed Subscriber Revenues 

In October 2020, Sun Prepaid subscribers were rebranded to Smart Prepaid. The brand consolidation 
under Smart aims to strengthen market position, achieve cost-efficiency and to provide superior 
mobile data service to all Sun subscribers.  Post-rebranding, the ownership of Sun Prepaid subscribers 
remained under DMPI.  Under the terms of the agreement, Smart settles a fixed fee representing our 
proportionate share on the distributed subscriber revenues.  
 
Rebranded Sun subscribers now have access to a wider array of improved offers and services, 

Subscribers were also able to retain their existing mobile identification number (MIN) after the 
rebranding.  
 
The subscriber rebranding agreement gives rise to the recognition of distributed subscriber revenues. 
Total share in the distributed subscriber revenues amounted to P=5,301 million in 2024, lower by         
P=219 million from P=5,520 million in 2023. 

 
Other Service Revenues 

 
Other service revenues mainly facility service fees amounted P=1,032 million in 2024, a decrease of          
P=554 million, or 35%, from P=1,586 million in 2023. Other service revenues accounted for 16% and 
22% of our wireless service revenues in 2024 and 2023, respectively. 
 
Expenses 

 
Expenses associated with our wireless business in 2024 amounted to P=3,218 million, a decrease of                            
P=329 million, or 9%, from P=3,547 million in 2023.  A significant portion of the decline was 
attributable to lower repairs and maintenance, taxes and licenses, royalty expense, depreciation, and 
professional and other contracted services and, partially offset by higher rent expense. As a percentage 
of our total wireless revenues, expenses associated with our wireless business accounted for 51% and 
50% in 2024 and 2023, respectively. 
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The following table summarizes the breakdown of our total wireless-related expenses for the years 
ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 and the percentage of each expense item to the total: 
 

     Increase (Decrease) 
 2024 % 2023 % Amount % 
 (In millions) 

       
Professional and other contracted services P=1,751 54 P=1,769 50 (P=18) (1) 
Repairs and maintenance 643 20 910 26 (267) (29) 
Royalty expense 339 11 353 9 (14) (4) 
Depreciation  301 9 309 9 (8) (3) 
Taxes and licenses 118 4 149 4 (31) (21) 
Rent 66 2 57 2 9 16 
Total P=3,218 100 P=3,547 100 (P=329) (9)  

(1) Includes salaries and employee benefits, and pension costs. 
 

Professional and other contracted services decreased by P=18 million, to P=1,751 million due to UBS 
fees in 2023 relating to the sale of telecom towers. 
 
Repairs and maintenance expenses decreased by P=267 million, or 29%, to P=643 million mainly due to 
lower site electricity driven by lower average rate per kilowatt hour. 
 
Royalty expenses decreased by P=14 million, to P=339 million from P=353 million in 2023. 
 
Depreciation charges decreased by P=8 million, or 3%, to P=301 million in 2024 due to lower 
depreciation of right-of-use assets. 
 
Taxes and licenses decreased by P=31 million, or 21%, to P=118 million primarily due to deficiency tax 
settlement in 2023. 
 
Rent increased by P=9 million, or 16%, to P=66 million primarily due to higher accrual on site rentals. 
 
Other Income - Net 
 
The following table summarizes the breakdown of our total wireless-related net other income for the 
years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023: 
 

   Increase (Decrease) 
 2024 2023 Amount % 
 (In millions) 

Other Income (Expenses):     
Distribution income on perpetual notes P=191 P=191 P=   
Gain on sale of telecom towers 41 661 (620) (94) 
Rental income 4 6 (2) (33) 
Gain on sale on disposal of assets 1 1   
Gains (losses) of fair value change in perpetual notes (24) 230 (254) (110) 
Accretion expense on lease liabilities  (51) (60) (9) (15) 
Interest income  2 (2) (100) 
Foreign exchange gains  net  1 (1) (100) 
Other income (expenses) (96) (51) 45 88 

Total  P=66 P=981 (P=915) (93) 

 
P=66 million in 2024, a decrease by P=915 million, or 

93%, from P=981 million in 2023 primarily due to the combined effects of the following: (i) lower gain 
on sale of telecom towers by P=620 million; (ii) loss on fair value change in perpetual notes of                        
P=24 million as against gain on fair value change in perpetual notes of P=230 million; (iii) lower rental 
income by P=2 million; (iv) lower interest income by P=2 million; (v) lower financing costs by                           
P=9 million; (vi) foreign exchange gains of P=1 million in 2023; and (vii) higher other expenses  net by  
P=45 million. 
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Provision for Income Tax 
 
Our wireless business recorded a provision for income tax amounting to P=563 million in 2024, a 
decrease of P=170 million, or 23%, from P=733 million in 2023 primarily due to lower provisioning on 
subsequent sale of telecom towers. 
 
Net Income 
 
As a result of the foregoing, our wireless business recorded a net income of P=2,618 million in 2024, a 
decrease by P=1,189 million, or 31% from P=3,807 million in 2023. 
 
EBITDA 
 
Our wireless business recorded an EBITDA amounting to P=3,415 million, a decrease of                           
P=454 million, or 12%, from P=3,869 million in 2023 due to decrease in revenues by P=773 million, 
partially offset by lower expenses excluding depreciation by P=321 million. EBITDA margin remains 
at 54% in 2024. 
 
Core Income 

 
decreased by P=662 million, or 20%, to P=2,583 million in 

2024 from P=3,245 million in 2023.  
 
Fixed Line 
 
Expenses 

 
Expenses related to our fixed line business totaled P=57 million in 2024, a decrease of P=31 million, or 
35%, as compared with P=88 million in 2023.  The decrease was primarily due to lower taxes and 
licenses, repairs and maintenance and rent, partially offset by higher asset impairment  

 
The following table shows the breakdown of our total fixed line-related expenses for the years ended 
December 31, 2024 and 2023 and the percentage of each expense item to the total: 
 

     Decrease 
 2024 % 2023 % Amount % 
 (In millions) 

       
Repairs and maintenance P=40 70 P=48 55 (P=8) (17) 
Rent 9 16 10 11 (1) (10) 
Professional and other contracted services 3 5 3 3   
Taxes and licenses 2 3 25 29 (23) (92) 
Compensation and employee benefits 1 2 1 1   
Asset impairment 1 2   1 100 
Other expenses 1 2 1 1   
Total P=57 100 P=88 100 (P=31) (35) 

 

Repairs and maintenance expenses decreased by P=8 million, or 17%, to P=40 million primarily due to 
lower facility repairs and electricity consumption costs. 
 
Rent expenses decreased by P=1 million, or 10%, to P=9 million due to lower building rentals. 
 
Professional and other contracted services remained at P=3 million, which represents audit fees and 
other professional fees.  
 
Taxes and licenses decreased by P=23 million, or 92%, due to deficiency tax settlement in 2023.  
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Compensation and employee benefits expenses remained at P=1 million, which represents payroll 
costs. 
 
Asset impairment increased by P=1 million, or 100%, mainly due to additional provision for 
uncollectible creditable withholding taxes. 
 
Other expenses remained at P=1 million, which represents various business and fixed line operational-
related expenses. 
 
Other Income - Net 

 
The following table summarizes the breakdown of our total fixed line-related net other income for the 
years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023: 
 

   Increase (Decrease) 
 2024 2023 Amount % 
 (In millions) 

Other Income:     
Reversal of long outstanding accrual P=32 P=  P=32 100 
Others 33 57 (24) (42) 
Total  P=65 P=57 P=8 14 

 
P=65 million in 2024, an increase of                             

P=8 million, or 14%, from P=57 million in 2023 primarily due to the combined effects of the following: 
(i) reversal of long outstanding accruals of P=32 million in 2024 compared to none in 2023; and                            
(iv) lower other income by P=24 million; 
 
Provision for (Benefit from) Income Tax 
 
Provision for income tax amounted to P=1 million in 2024 as against benefit from income of P=1 million 
in 2023.  

 
Net Income 

 
As a result of the foregoing, our fixed line business recorded a net income amounting to P=8 million, a 
change of P=38 million, or 127%, from a net loss of P=30 million in 2023. 
 
EBITDA 

 
P=56 million in 2024, lower by                      

P=32 million, or 36%, from P=88 million in 2023 due to lower expenses excluding depreciation. 
 
Core Income 

 
income in 2024 amounted to P=8 million, as against core loss of 

P=30 million in 2023, primarily due to higher other income. 
 
 
Years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 
 
On a Consolidated Basis 
 
Revenues 
 
We reported consolidated revenues of P=7,106 million in 2023, a decrease of P=97 million, or 1%, as 
compared with P=7,203 million in 2022, due to lower revenues from our wireless business. 
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Expenses 

 
Consolidated expenses decreased by P=240 million, or 6%, to P=3,634 million in 2023 from                           
P=3,874 million in 2022, largely as a result of decrease in repairs and maintenance, rent, asset 
impairment, insurance and security services, and professional and other contracted services.  This was 
partly offset by the increase in taxes and licenses and depreciation. 
 
The following table shows the breakdown of our consolidated expenses by business segment for the 
years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022: 

 
     Change 
 2023 % 2022 % Amount % 
 (In millions) 

       
Wireless P=3,547 98 P=3,760 97 (P=213) (6) 
Fixed line 88 2 114 3 (26) (23) 
Intersegment (1)    (1) 100 
Consolidated P=3,634 100 P=3,874 100 (P=240) (6) 

 
Other Income  

 
Consolidated other income decreased by P=2,026 million, or 66%, to P=1,037 million in 2023 from                 
P=3,063 million in 2022, primarily due to the combined effects of the following: (i) lower gain on sale 
of telecom towers by P=2,847 million; (ii)  gain on fair value change on perpetual notes of                        
P=230 million as against loss on fair value change on perpetual notes of P=2,098 million in 2022;                     
(iii) lower distribution income by P=67 million; (iv) lower rental income by P=8 million; (v) lower 
interest income by P=1 million; (vi) foreign exchange gain of P=1 million; (vii) gain on disposal of fixed 
assets of P=1 million; (viii) higher financing costs by P=5 million; (ix) lower reversal of long 
outstanding accruals by P=1,144 million; and (x) lower other income by P=283 million. 
 
The following table shows the breakdown of our consolidated other income by business segment for 
the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022: 

 
     Change 
 2023 % 2022 % Amount % 
 (In millions) 

       
Wireless P=981 95 P=2,319 76 (P=1,338) (58) 
Fixed line 57 5 744 24 (687) (92) 
Intersegment (1)    (1) 100 
Consolidated P=1,037 100 P=3,063 100 (P=2,026) (66) 

 
Net Income  

 
We reported a consolidated net income of P=3,777 million in 2023, a decrease of P=1,418 million, or 
27%, from P=5,195 million in 2022.  The decrease was mainly due to the combined effects of the 
following: (i) lower consolidated revenues by P=97 million; (ii) lower expenses by P=239 million;       
(iii) lower provision for income tax by P=465 million; and (iv) lower other income by P=2,025 million.   
Our consolidated basic/dilutive earnings per share amounted to P=0.14 and P=0.20 in 2023 and 2022, 
respectively. 
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The following table shows the breakdown of our consolidated net income by business segment for the 
years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022: 

 
     Change 
 2023 % 2022 % Amount % 
 (In millions) 

       
Wireless P=3,807 101 P=4,571 88 (P=764) (17) 
Fixed line (30) (1) 624 12 (654) (105) 
Consolidated P=3,777 100 P=5,195 100 (P=1,418) (27) 

 
EBITDA 
 
We reported a consolidated EBITDA of P=3,781 million in 2023, higher by P=139 million, or 4%, from 
P=3,642 million in 2022, primarily due to lower expenses excluding depreciation, partly offset by the 
decrease in revenues. 
 
 The following table shows the breakdown of our consolidated EBITDA by business segment for the 
years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022: 
 

     Change 
 2023 % 2022 % Amount % 
 (In millions) 

       
Wireless P=3,869 102 P=3,730 102 P=139 4 
Fixed line (88) (2) (88) (2)   
Consolidated P=3,781 100 P=3,642 100 P=139 4 

 
Core Income 
 
Our consolidated core income increased by P=1,002 million, or 45%, to P=3,215 million in 2023 from                     
P=2,213 million in 2022 primarily due higher core income from our Wireless business segment partly 
offset by core loss from our Fixed Line business segment. 
The following table shows the breakdown of our consolidated core income by business segment for 
the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022: 

 
     Change 
 2023 % 2022 % Amount % 
 (In millions) 

       
Wireless P=3,245 101 P=1,588 72 P=1,657 104 
Fixed line (30) (1) 625 28 (655) (105) 
Consolidated P=3,215 100 P=2,213 100 P=1,002 45 

 
On a Business Segment Basis 

Wireless 

 
Revenues  

 
We generated revenues from our wireless business of P=7,106 million in 2023, a decrease of                             
P=97 million, or 1%, from P=7,203 million in 2022.   

 
The following table summarizes our total revenues by service from our Wireless business segment for 
the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022: 
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     Increase (Decrease) 
 2023 % 2022 % Amount % 
 (In millions) 

Service Revenues:       
Distributed subscriber revenues  P=5,520 78 P=5,529 77 (P=9)  
Others 1,586 22 1,674 23 (88) (5) 

Total Wireless Service Revenues 7,106 100 7,203 100 (97) (1) 
 

 
Service Revenues  

 
Our wireless service revenues decreased by P=97 million, or 1%, to P=7,106 million in 2023 as 
compared with P=7,203 million in 2022, mainly as a result of lower revenues from facility service fees. 

 
Distributed Subscriber Revenues 

In October 2020, Sun Prepaid subscribers were rebranded to Smart Prepaid. The brand consolidation 
under Smart aims to strengthen market position, achieve cost-efficiency and to provide superior 
mobile data service to all Sun subscribers.  Post-rebranding, the ownership of Sun Prepaid subscribers 
remained under DMPI.  Under the terms of the agreement, Smart settles a fixed fee representing our 
proportionate share on the distributed subscriber revenues.  
 
Rebranded Sun subscribers now have access to a wider array of improved offers and services, 

Subscribers were also able to retain their existing mobile identification number (MIN) after the 
rebranding.  
 
The subscriber rebranding agreement gives rise to the recognition of distributed subscriber revenues. 
Total share in the distributed subscriber revenues amounted to P=5,520 million in 2023, lower by         
P=9 million from P=5,529 million in 2022. 
 

Other Service Revenues 
 
Other service revenues mainly facility service fees amounted P=1,586 million in 2023, a decrease of          
P=88 million, or 5%, from P=1,674 million in 2022. Other service revenues accounted for 22% and 23% 
of our wireless service revenues in 2023 and 2022, respectively. 
 
Expenses 

 
Expenses associated with our wireless business in 2023 amounted to P=3,194 million, a decrease of                            
P=212 million, or 6%, from P=3,406 million in 2022.  A significant portion of the decline was 
attributable to lower repairs and maintenance, rent, insurance and security services and professional 
and other contracted services and, partially offset by higher taxes and licenses and depreciation. As a 
percentage of our total wireless revenues, expenses associated with our wireless business accounted 
for 45% and 47% in 2023 and 2022, respectively. 
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The following table summarizes the breakdown of our total wireless-related expenses for the years 
ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 and the percentage of each expense item to the total: 
 

     Increase (Decrease) 
 2023 % 2022 % Amount % 
 (In millions) 

       
Professional and other contracted services P=1,769 50 P=1,771 47 (P=2)  
Repairs and maintenance 910 26 1,096 30 (186) (17) 
Royalty expense 353 9 354 9 (1)  
Depreciation  309 9 288 7 21 7 
Taxes and licenses 149 4 107 3 42 39 
Rent 57 2 141 4 (84) (60) 
Insurance and security services   3  (3) (100) 
Total P=3,547 100 P=3,760 100 (P=213) (6)  

(2) Includes salaries and employee benefits, and pension costs. 
 

Professional and other contracted services decreased by P=2 million, to P=1,769 million due to UBS fees 
in 2022 relating to the sale of telecom towers, and lower legal and audit fees. 
 
Repairs and maintenance expenses decreased by P=186 million, or 17%, to P=910 million mainly due to 
lower site electricity driven by lower average rate per kilowatt hour. 
 
Royalty expenses decreased by P=1 million, to P=353 million from P=354 million in 2023. 
 
Depreciation charges increased by P=21 million, or 7%, to P=309 million in 2023 due to higher 
depreciation of right-of-use assets partially offset by lower regular depreciation. 
 
Taxes and licenses increased by P=42 million, or 39%, to P=149 million primarily due to deficiency tax 
settlement in 2023. 
 
Rent decreased by P=84 million, or 60%, to P=57 million primarily due to lower site rentals brought by 
the sale of telecom towers. 
 
Other Income - Net 
 
The following table summarizes the breakdown of our total wireless-related net other income for the 
years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022: 
 

   Increase (Decrease) 
 2023 2022 Amount % 
 (In millions) 

Other Income (Expenses):     
Gain on sale of telecom towers P=661 P=3,508 (P=2,847) (81) 
Gains (losses) of fair value change in perpetual notes 230 (2,098) 2,328 111 
Distribution income on perpetual notes 191 258 (67) (26) 
Rental income 6 4 2 50 
Interest income 2 2   
Gain on sale on disposal of assets 1 1   
Foreign exchange gains  net 1 1   
Financing costs  net  (60) (55) (5) 9 
Revesral of long outstanding accruals  498 (498) (100) 
Other income (expenses) (51) 200 (251) (126) 

Total  P=981 P=2,319 (P=1,338) (58) 

 
P=981 million in 2023, a decrease by P=1,338 million, 

or 58%, from P=2,319 million in 2022 primarily due to the combined effects of the following: (i) lower 
gain on sale of telecom towers by P=2,847 million; (ii) gain on fair value change in perpetual notes of  
P=230 million as against loss on fair value change in perpetual notes of P=2,098 million; (iii) lower 
distribution income by P=67 million; (iv) higher rental income by P=2 million; (v) interest income of                 
P=2 million; (vi) gain on sale of disposal of assets of P=1 million; (vii) foreign exchange gains of                       
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P=1 million; (viii) lower financing costs by P=5 million; (ix) lower reversal of long outstanding accruals 
by P=498 million; and (x) other expense of P=51 million in 2023 as against other income of                                 
P=200 million in 2022. 
 
Provision for Income Tax 
 
Our wireless business recorded a provision for income tax amounting to P=733 million in 2023, a 
decrease of P=458 million, or 38%, from P=1,191 million in 2022 primarily due to lower provisioning 
on subsequent sale of telecom towers. 
 
Net Income 
 
As a result of the foregoing, our wireless business recorded a net income of P=3,807 million in 2023, a 
decrease by P=764 million, or 17% from P=4,571 million in 2022. 
 
EBITDA 
 
Our wireless business recorded an EBITDA amounting to P=3,869 million, an increase of                           
P=139 million, or 4%, from P=3,730 million in 2022 due to lower expenses excluding depreciation by   
P=234 million, partially offset by the decrease in revenues by P=97 million. EBITDA margin increased 
to 54% in 2023 from 52% in 2022. 
 
Core Income 

 
increased by P=1,657 million, or 104%, to                        

P=3,245 million in 2023 from P=1,588 million in 2022.  
 
Fixed Line 
 
Expenses 

 
Expenses related to our fixed line business totaled P=88 million in 2023, a decrease of P=26 million, or 
23%, as compared with P=114 million in 2022.  The decrease was primarily due to lower asset 
impairment, repairs and maintenance and rent, partially offset by higher taxes and licenses. 

 
The following table shows the breakdown of our total fixed line-related expenses for the years ended 
December 31, 2023 and 2022 and the percentage of each expense item to the total: 
 

     Decrease 
 2023 % 2022 % Amount % 
 (In millions) 

       
Repairs and maintenance P=48 55 P=65 57 (P=17) (26) 
Taxes and licenses 25 29   25 100 
Rent 10 11 15 13 (5) (33) 
Professional and other contracted services 3 3 3 3   
Compensation and employee benefits 1 1 1 1   
Asset impairment   29 25 (29) (100) 
Other expenses 1 1 1 1   
Total P=88 100 P=114 100 (P=26) (23) 

 

Repairs and maintenance expenses decreased by P=17 million, or 26%, to P=48 million primarily due to 
lower facility repairs and electricity consumption costs. 
 
Taxes and licenses increased by P=25 million, or 100%, due to deficiency tax settlement in 2023 and 
increase in real property tax.  
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Rent expenses decreased by P=5 million, or 33%, to P=10 million due to lower pole and building rentals. 
 
Professional and other contracted services remained at P=3 million, which represents audit fees and 
other professional fees.  
 
Compensation and employee benefits expenses remained at P=1 million which represents various 
payroll costs. 
 
Other expenses for various remained at P=1 million which represents various business and fixed line 
operational-related expenses. 
 
Other Income - Net 

 
The following table summarizes the breakdown of our total fixed line-related net other income for the 
years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022: 
 

   Increase (Decrease) 
 2023 2022 Amount % 
 (In millions) 

Other Income (Expenses):     
Reversal of long outstanding accrual P=  P=646 (P=646) (100) 
Rental income  10 (10) (100) 
Interest income  1 (1) (100) 
Foreign exchange losses  net  (1) 1 100 
Others 57 88 (31) (35) 
Total  P=57 P=744 (P=687) (92) 

 
P=57 million in 2023, a decrease of                             

P=687 million, or 92%, from P=744 million in 2022 primarily due to the combined effects of the 
following: (i) reversal of long outstanding accruals of P=646 million in 2022 compared to none in 
2023; (ii) rental income of P=10 million in 2022 compared to none in 2023; (iii) interest income of             
P=1 million in 2022 compared to none in 2023; (iv) net foreign exchange loss of P=1 million in 2022 as 
compared to none in 2023; and (v) lower other income by P=31 million; 
 
Provision for (Benefit from) Income Tax 
 
Benefit from income tax amounted to P=1 million in 2023 as against provision for income tax of             
P=6 million in 2022.  

 
Net Income 

 
As a result of the foregoing, our fixed line business recorded a net loss amounting to P=30 million, a 
decrease of P=654 million, or 105%, from an income of P=624 million in 2022. 
 
EBITDA 

 
remained at P=88 million in 2023. 

 
Core Income 

 
loss in 2023 amounted to P=30 million, as against core income 

of P=625 million in 2022, primarily due to lower other income. 
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Plans  
 
We are part of one of the leading telecommunications and digital services provider in the Philippines, 
the PLDT Group.  We intend to reinforce our leading position while offering a broader range and 
higher quality of products and services.  
 

5 is expected to be substantially spent on network 
maintenance and expansion and IT projects, mainly to support delivery of diverse products and 
services and delivery of superior customer experience.    
 
The Group plans to expand its LTE and 5G network in line with our desire to provide coverage to 

5.  
 

expand 
capacity and improve resiliency. 
 
PLDT Group expects to fund incremental capital expenditures from internally generated funds and 
loan financing. 
 
Liquidity and Capital Resources 

 
The following table shows our consolidated cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 
and 2022 as well as our consolidated capitalization and other consolidated selected financial data as at 
December 31, 2024 and 2023: 
 

 Years ended December 31, 
 2024 2023 2022 
 (In millions) 

Cash Flows    
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities  P=2,341 P=2,676 (P=4,967) 
Net cash provided by investing activities  220 824 5,271 

Capital expenditures     
Net cash used in financing activities  (2,604) (3,500) (359) 
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (43)  (54) 

 
 2024 2023 
 (In millions) 
Capitalization   

Total equity attributable to equity holders of Digitel (9,841) (12,469) 
 (P=9,841) (P=12,469) 

  
Other Selected Financial Data   

Total assets P=5,660 P=5,221 
Cash and cash equivalents 77 120 

 
As at December 31, 2024, our consolidated cash and cash equivalents totaled P=77 million.  Principal 
sources of consolidated cash and cash equivalents in 2024 were cash flows provided from operations 
of P=2,341 million, proceeds from the sale of telecom towers of P=41 million, and proceeds from 
distribution of perpetual notes of P=191 million.  These funds were used principally for: (i) payment of 
cash dividends of P=2,183 million; (ii) income tax payment of P=457 million; (iii) payments for 
principal and interest of lease liability of P=370 million and P=51 million, respectively; and (iv) increase 
in advances and other noncurrent assets of P=12 million 
 
As at December 31, 2023, our consolidated cash and cash equivalents totaled P=120 million.  Principal 
sources of consolidated cash and cash equivalents in 2023 were cash flows provided from operations 
of P=2,676 million, proceeds from the sale of telecom towers of P=661, proceeds from distribution of 
perpetual notes of P=191 million, and interest received of P=2 million.  These funds were used 
principally for: (i) payment of cash dividends of P=3,212 million; (ii) income tax payment of                          
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P=612 million; (iii) payments for principal and interest of lease liability of P=228 million and                              
P=60 million, respectively; and (iv) increase in advances and other noncurrent assets of P=30 million 
 
Operating Activities  

 
Our consolidated net cash flows provided by operating activities amounted to P=2,341 million in 2024, 
lower by P=335 million, or 13%, from P=2,676 million in 2023 primarily due to lower collection of 
trade and other receivables, higher level of other current assets, lower income taxes paid, lower 
settlement of trade and other payables, and lower operating income.  
 
Our consolidated net cash flows provided by operating activities amounted to P=2,676 million in 2023 
as against consolidated net cash flows used in operating activities amounting to P=4,967 million in 
2022 primarily due to higher collection of trade and other receivables, and lower income tax paid, 
partially offset by higher settlement of trade and other payables, higher other current assets, lower 
asset retirement obligation, and lower operating income.  
 
Investing Activities  
 
Consolidated net cash provided by investing activities amounted to P=220 million in 2024, lower by         
P=604 million, or 73%, from P=824 million in 2023 primarily due to lower proceeds from disposal of 
fixed assets by P=620 million, and lower interest received by P=2 million. 
 
Consolidated net cash provided by investing activities amounted to P=824 million in 2023, lower by         
P=4,447 million, or 84%, from P=5,271 million in 2022 primarily due to lower proceeds from disposal 
of fixed assets by P=2,847 million, lower interest received by P=1 million, and lower proceeds from 
distribution of perpetual notes by P=67 million. 
 
Financing Activities 
 
On a consolidated basis, net cash used in financing activities amounted to P=2,604 million in 2024, 
lower by P=896 million, or 26% from P=3,500 million in 2023 due primarily to lower cash dividends 
paid by P=1,029 million, and lower payments for interest on lease liability by P=9 million, partly offset 
by higher payments for principal of lease liability by P=142 million. 
 
On a consolidated basis, net cash used in financing activities amounted to P=3,500 million in 2023, 
from P=359 million in 2022 due to cash dividends paid amounting to P=3,212 million, higher payments 
for interest on lease liability by P=5 million, partly offset by lower payments for principal of lease 
liability by P=76 million. 
 
Financing Requirements 

 
We believe that our available cash, including cash flow from operations, will provide sufficient 
liquidity to fund our projected operating, investment, capital expenditures and debt service 
requirements for the next 12 months.   
 
Changes in Financial Conditions 
 
Assets 
 
Our total assets amounted to P=5,660 million as at December 31, 2024, an increase of P=439 million, or 
8%, from P=5,221 million as at December 31, 2023, primarily due to higher current assets by                     
P=543 million, or 20%, and lower noncurrent assets by P=104 million, or 4%. 
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Our total assets amounted to P=5,221 million as at December 31, 2023, an increase of P=754 million, or 
17%, from P=4,467 million as at December 31, 2022, primarily due to higher current assets by                     
P=295 million, or 12%, and higher noncurrent assets by P=459 million, or 22%. 
 
Noncurrent Assets 
 
Our noncurrent assets decreased by P=104 million or 4%, to P=2,459 million in 2024 from                       
P=2,563 million in 2023 primarily due to the combined effects of the following: 
 

Investment properties amounted to P=55 million each as at December 31, 2024 and 2023, which 
represent land that is currently held for undetermined future use. 
 
Right-of-use (ROU) assets decreased by P=93 million, or 17%, due to depreciation and termination 
of ROU sites, partly offset by additional ROU sites during the period.  
 
Investment in perpetual notes decreased by P=24 million, or 2%, primarily due to loss on fair value 
change on perpetual notes. 
 
Net deferred income tax asset amounted to P=2 milliom as at December 31, 2024. 
 
Other noncurrent assets increased by P=12 million, or 3%, primarily due to higher refundable 
security deposits. 

 
Our noncurrent assets increased by P=459 million or 22%, to P=2,563 million in 2023 from P=2,104 
million in 2022 primarily due to the combined effects of the following: 
 

Investment properties amounted to P=55 million each as at December 31, 2023 and 2024, which 
represent land that is currently held for undetermined future use. 
 
Right-of-use assets (ROU) increased by P=215 million, or 62%, due to additional ROU sites during 
the period, partly offset by depreciation and termination of ROU sites.  
 
Investment in perpetual notes increased by P=230 million, or 18%, primarily due to gain on fair 
value change on perpetual notes. 
 
Net deferred income tax asset decreased by P=14 million, or 93%, mainly due to lower deferred tax 
on asset impairment and lease liability and ROU assets. 
 
Other noncurrent assets increased by P=29 million, or 7%, primarily due to higher refundable 
security deposits. 

 
Current Assets 
 
Our current assets increased by P=543 million or 20%, to P=3,201 million in 2024 from P=2,658 million 
in 2023 primarily due to the combined effects of the following: 
 

Cash and cash equivalents decreased by P=43 million, or 36%, mainly due to the combined effects 
of cash flows from operating activities of P=2,341 million, cash flows from investing activities of  
P=220 million, and cash flows used in financing activities of P=2,604 million. 
 
Trade and other receivables increased by P=547 million, or 24%, due mainly from additional 
receivables from related parties. 
 
Inventories amounted to nil as at December 31, 2024 and 2023.  
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Other current assets decreased by P=21 million, or 23%, primarily due to the higher prepaid fees 
and licenses and prepaid rent. 

 
Our current assets increased by P=295 million or 12%, to P=2,658 million in 2023 from P=2,363 million 
in 2022 primarily due to the combined effects of the following: 
 

Cash and cash equivalents remained flat at P=120 million in 2023, mainly due to the combined 
effects of cash flows from operating activities of P=2,676 million, cash flows from investing 
activities of P=824 million, and cash flows used in financing activities of P=3,500 million. 
 
Trade and other receivables increased by P=307 million, or 16%, due mainly from additional 
receivables from related parties. 
 
Inventories amounted to nil as at December 31, 2023 and 2022.  
 
Other current assets decreased by P=49 million, or 33%, primarily due to the lower prepaid rent 
and prepaid fees and licenses. 

 
Liabilities 
 
Our total liabilities amounted to P=15,501 million as at December 31, 2024, a decrease of                        
P=2,189 million, or 12%, from P=17,690 million as at December 31, 2023, due to lower noncurrent 
liabilities by P=55 million, or 10%, and lower current liabilities by P=2,134 million, or 12%. 
 

Net deferred income tax liabilities increased by P=15 million, or 750%, due to lower deferred 
income tax asset on lease liability. 
 
Other noncurrent portion liabilities decreased by P=70 million, or 13%, due to lower lease 
liabilities  net of current portion, partly offset by increase in asset retirement obligation.  
 
Trade and other payables decreased by P=2,146 million, or 13%, due to settlement to related 
parties, partly offset by higher trade payables and accrued expenses. 

 
Our total liabilities amounted to P=17,690 million as at December 31, 2023, a decrease of                        
P=764 million, or 4%, from P=18,454 million as at December 31, 2022, due to lower noncurrent 
liabilities by P=33 million, or 6%, and lower current liabilities by P=731 million, or 4%. 
 

Net deferred income tax liabilities decreased by P=1 million, or 33%, due to lower deferred income 
tax liability on pension and other employee benefits. 
 
Other noncurrent portion liabilities decreased by P=32 million, or 6%, due to lower lease liabilities 

 net of current portion and lower asset retirement obligation.  
 
Trade and other payables decreased by P=994 million, or 6%, due to settlement to related parties, 
lower accrued expenses and dividends payable, partly offset by higher trade payables. 

 
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 

 
There are no off-balance sheet arrangements that have or are reasonably likely to have any current or 

equity, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources that are material to investors. 
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Other Matters 
 

a. Any known trends, demands, commitments, events or uncertainties that will have a material 
 

- We are not aware of any known trends, demands, commitments, events or uncertainties that 
 

- Digitel Group has not defaulted in paying its currently maturing obligations.   
- 

by the current ratio of 0.21:1 due to an outstanding payable to PLDT and other related parties 
amounting to P=13.1 billion as at December 31, 2024.  Without this portion in the current 
liabilities, the current ratio will improve to 1.67:1. 

 
b.   Any events that will trigger direct or contingent financial obligation that is material to Digitel, 

including any default or acceleration of an obligation. 
- We are not aware of any events that will trigger direct or contingent financial obligation that 

is material to Digitel Group, including any default or acceleration of an obligation. 
 
c. Description of any material commitments for capital expenditures, general purpose of such 

commitments, expected sources of funds for such expenditures. 
- We have no material commitments for capital expenditures. 

 
d. Any material off-balance sheet transactions, arrangements, obligations (including contingent 

obligations), and other relationships of the company with unconsolidated entities or other persons 
created during the reporting period. 
- We are not aware of any material off-balance sheet transactions, arrangements, obligations 

(including contingent obligations), and other relationships of the company with 
unconsolidated entities or other persons created during the reporting period. 

 
e. Any known trends, events or uncertainties that have had or that are reasonably expected to have a 

material favorable or unfavorable impact on net sales/revenues/income from continuing 
operations. 
- We are not aware of any known trends, events or uncertainties that have had or that are 

reasonably expected to have a material favorable or unfavorable impact on net 
sales/revenues/income from continuing operations. 

       
f.  

- 
continuing operations. 

 
g. Seasonal aspects that have material effect on the FS. 

- We are not aware of any seasonal aspects that have material effect on the FS. 
 

Item 7.  Financial Statements 
 
The financial statements and schedules listed in the accompanying Index to Financial Statements and 
Supplementary Schedules are filed as part of this Form 17-A. 
 
Item 8.  Changes in and Disagreements with Independent Auditors on Accounting and Financial 
Disclosure 
 
Digitel has not changed and has no disagreements with its independent auditor on any matter of 
accounting principles or practices, financial statement disclosure, or auditing scope or procedure.  
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Audit and Audit-Related Fees 
 
The expenses incurred by Digitel Group for Sycip Gorres and V  examination 
and audit of financial statements amounted to P=1.2 million for 2024 and 2023.  

 
Our Audit Committee pre-approved all audit and non-audit services as these are proposed or endorsed 
before these services are performed by our independent auditor.   
                

 
PART III - CONTROL AND COMPENSATION INFORMATION 

 
Item 9.   Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant 
 

Amended Articles of Incorporation provide for seven members of the Board, who shall be elected by 
ix directors are independent directors. The Board holds 

office for one year and until their successors are elected and qualified in accordance with the By-
Laws. 
 
The names, ages and periods of service, of each of the current directors, including independent 
directors, of Digitel as at March 25, 2025 are as follows: 

 
Name  Age  Period during which individual has served as such 
     
Manuel V. Pangilinan  78  October 26, 2011 to present 
Alfredo S. Panlilio   61  June 12, 2019 to present 
Danny Y. Yu  63  June 13, 2023 to present 
Oscar J. Hilado (1)  86  May 6, 2013 to present 
Emerlinda R. Roman (1)  75  March 4, 2013 to present 
Lorenzo V. Tan  61  January 27, 2014 to present 

(1) Independent director 

 
The names, ages and periods of service, of each of the executive officers and all other officers of Digitel 
as at March 25, 2025 are as follows: 

 
Name Age Position Period during which individual has 

served as such 
    
Manuel V. Pangilinan 78 Chairman of the Board  LEC/CMTS October 26, 2011 to August 6, 2012 
   May 25, 2015 to present 
  President and CEO  LEC/CMTS  January 1, 2024 to present 
Jerone H. Tabanera 46 Chief Financial Officer  LEC May 30, 2022 to present 
Danny Y. Yu 63 Chief Financial Officer  CMTS June 13, 2023 to present 
Leo I. Posadas 58 Treasurer  LEC/CMTS May 29, 2017 to present 
Alex Erlito S. Fider 71 Corporate Secretary  LEC/CMTS January 27, 2014 to present 
    

 
The following is a brief description of the business experiences of each of our directors and executive 
officers for the last five years:  
 
Mr. Manuel V. Pangilinan has been a director of Digitel since October 26, 2011 and is concurrently 
the Chairman of the Board of Directors and President and CEO since January 1, 2024.  He is the 
Chairman of the Remuneration and Compensation Committee and Member of the Governance and 
Nomination Committee of the Board of Directors of Digitel.  Mr. Pangilinan is currently the 
Chairman and President and Chief Executive Officer of PLDT, and has been a director of PLDT since 
November 24, 1998. 
Chairman and CEO of and Chairman of PXP Energy 
Corporation and Philex Mining Corporation, and of several subsidiaries or affiliates of PLDT or 
MPIC, including, among others, Smart,  PLDT 
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Inc., Philex Petroleum Corporation, Manila North Tollways Corporation, Maynilad Water Services 
Corporation, Landco Pacific Corporation, Metro Pacific Hospital Holdings, Inc., Medical Doctors 
Incorporated (Makati Medical Center), and Colinas Verdes Corporation (Cardinal Santos Medical 
Center). He is also the Chairman of MediaQuest Holdings Inc., TV5 Network, Inc. and PLDT-Smart 
Foundation.

Exchange-listed company, in 1981 and serves as its Executive Chairman, Managing Director and 
Chief Executive Officer. Within the First Pacific Group, he also holds the position of President 
Commissioner of P.T. Indofood Sukses Makmur Tbk, the largest food company in Indonesia.

Outside the First Pacific Group, Mr. Pangilinan is the Chairman of the Board of Trustees of San Beda 

the Chairman of Philippine Business for Social Progress, the largest private sector social action 
and a Co-Chairman of the Philippine 

Disaster Resilience Foundation, Inc., a non-stock, non-profit foundation established to formulate and 
implement a reconstruction strategy to rehabilitate and rebuild areas devastated by floods and other 
calamities. 

Mr. Pangilinan graduated cum laude from the Ateneo de Manila University, with a Bachelor of Arts 

School of Finance & Commerce at the University of Pennsylvania, where he was a Procter & Gamble 
Fellow. He was conferred a Doctor of Humanities Degree (Honoris Causa) by the San Beda College 
(2002), Xavier University (2007), Holy Angel University (2009) and Far Eastern University (2010).

Mr. Alfredo S. Panlilio has been a director of Digitel since June 12, 2019. He served as President and 
CEO of PLDT from June 8, 2021 and of Smart from August 8, 2019, and held leadership positions in 
the various subsidiaries of PLDT and Smart, until his retirement as President and CEO of PLDT and 
Smart on December 31, 2023. Despite his retirement as President and CEO of PLDT and Smart, Mr. 
Panlilio has remained as a Director of PLDT and Smart, and has continued to hold various leadership 
positions within the PLDT Group as Chairman of Maya Bank, Inc.; and Director of Multisys 
Technologies Corporation and Multipay Corporation. Mr. Panlilio was the Senior Vice President and 
Head of Customer Retail Services and Corporate Communications at Meralco from September 10, 
2010 to June 30, 2019. He also held several leadership positions within the Meralco Group. 

Mr. Panlilio is a Trustee of the Kapampangan Development Foundation and Philpop Musicfest 

Panlilio is among the founding members under the Digital Infrastructure pillar of the Private Sector 
Advisory Council (PSAC), formed in July 2022. Mr. Panlilio sits as President of the MVP Sports 
Foundation, a Member of the FIBA Central Board, Second Vice President of FIBA Asia Central 
Board, First Vice President of the Philippine Olympic Committee and headed the FIBA Basketball 
World Cup 2023 local organizing committee. He is also the President of the Samahang Basketbol ng 

Golf Association of the Philippines (NGAP) and Director of the Philippine Badminton Association. 

Mr. Panlilio holds a Bachelor of Science Degree in Business Administration (Computer Information 
Systems) from San Francisco State University. He obtained his Master in Business Administration at 
J. L. Kellogg School of Management of Northwestern University and the Hongkong University of 
Science and Technology.

Mr. Danny Y. Yu, has been a director of Digitel since June 13, 2023.  He is currently the PLDT 
Group Chief Financial Officer and Chief Risk Management Officer.  He served as the PLDT Group 
Controller from November 17, 2022 to May 3, and as Senior Vice President and Chief Financial 
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Officer, Chief Governance Officer and Chief Risk Officer of Philex Mining Corporation from 
September 2013 to August 2019, Chief Finance Officer of Digital Telecommunications Philippines, 
Inc. and Digitel Mobile Philippines, Inc. (Sun Cellular) from November 2011 to July 2013, Chief 
Financial Officer of ePLDT, Inc. from November 2010 to December 2011, Chief Financial Officer of 
PLDT Global Corporation from June 2004 to November 2010, Chief Financial Officer of Mabuhay 
Satellite Philippines Corporation & Aces Satellite Philippines Corporation from March 1999 to May 
2004, and Vice President for Corporate Development of Fort Bonifacio Development Corporation 
from March 1997 to March 1999. He started his career at SGV & Co. where he was a senior auditor. 
Mr. Yu graduated Magna Cum Laude from the University of San Carlos with a Bachelor of Science in 
Commerce, Major in Accounting and holds a Master in Management from the Asian Institute of 
Management. He is also a Certified Public Accountant. In 2016, he was awarded the ING-FINEX 
CFO of the Year. 
  
Mr. Oscar J. Hilado has been an independent director of Digitel since May 6, 2013. He is the 
Chairman of the Governance and Nomination Committee, and a Member of the Audit Committee and 
Remuneration and Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors of Digitel.  He is currently the 
Chairman of the Board of PHINMA, Inc., Chairman Emeritus of Phinma Corporation, and Vice 
Chairman of Phinma Property Holdings Corp., and Union Galvasteel Corporation. He is a director of 
Philex Mining Corporation, Rockwell Land Corporation, A. Soriano Corporation, Roxas Holdings, 
Inc., Smart Communications Inc., Metro Pacific Investments Corporation, Phil Cement Corp., Union 
Insulated Panel Corp., Phinma Education Holdings, Inc., Araullo University, Cagayan de Oro 
College, University of Iloilo, Inc., University of Pangasinan, Inc., Southwestern University, Phinma 
Hospitality Inc., United Pulp and Paper Company Inc., Seven Seas Resorts & Leisure, Inc., Beacon 
Property Ventures, Inc., and Manila Cordage Company. Mr. Hilado is a Certified Public Accountant 

Degree in Business Administration from Harvard Business School. 
 
Dr. Emerlinda R. Roman has been an independent director of Digitel since March 4, 2013. She is the 
Chairman of the Audit Committee and a Member of the Governance and Nomination Committee and 
Remuneration and Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors of Digitel. She is currently the 
Chair of the Board of Advisers of Manila Tytana Colleges.  She is also an independent director of 
PXP Energy Corporation and Smart Communications, Inc. and a director of One Meralco Foundation 
and Redondo Peninsula Energy.   
2005 to 2011, but also its first woman president.  She also served as chancellor of the UP Diliman 
campus from 1991 to 1993 and from 1999 to 2004, vice chancellor for administration, secretary of the 
university and of the Board of Regents, vice president for administration, and member of the Board of 
Regents representing the faculty.  Dr. Roman obtained her Bachelor of Science Degree in Agriculture 
from the University of the Philippines, Los 
Management and PhD in Business Administration from UP Diliman in 1977 and 1989, respectively.    
 
Mr. Lorenzo V. Tan has been a director of Digitel since January 27, 2014. He is a Member of the 
Audit Committee of the Board of Directors of Digitel.  Mr. Tan is currently the Vice-Chairman of Pan 
Malayan Management Inc., Director, President and Chief Executive Officer of House of Investments, 
Inc., Chairman and President of Honda Cars Kalookan Inc., and Director and President of RCBC 
Realty Corporation. He is also a Director at Smart Communications, iPeople inc., Malayan Insurance 
Company Inc., Sunlife Grepa, Manila Memorial Park Cemetery Inc., Hi-Eisai Pharmaceutical Inc., 
and Board of Trustees at De La Salle Zobel, and Vice Chairman TOYM Foundation.   

His past experiences include:  Managing Director of Primeiro Partners.  He was the Chief Executive 
Officer and President of Rizal Commercial Banking Corp. until May 2016.  He served as Chairman of 
the Asian Bankers Association from 2012 to 2014, President of the Bankers Association of the 
Philippines (BAP) from 2013 to March 14, 2016.  As BAP President, he leads the Association in 
representing the BAP in the ASEAN Bankers Association (ABA), composed of the national banking 
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associations from the 10-member countries in the Association of Southeast Asian Nations 
(ASEAN).  He was a former Director of Philrealty Holdings and Investment Corp. 

Mr. Tan is a Certified Public Accountant in Pennsylvania, USA and in the Philippines.  He graduated 
from De La Salle University with a Bachelor of Science degree in Accounting and Commerce, and 
holds a Master in Management degree from the J.L. Kellogg Graduate School of Management, 
Northwestern University. 
 
(b)  Executive Officers 
 
The other officers of Digitel including their business experiences for the last five years are the 
following: 
 
Mr. Jerone H. Tabanera is the Chief Financial Officer of LEC Business Unit since May 30, 2022 and 
is concurrently the Head of Financial Reporting of PLDT. Prior to joining PLDT in June 2011, he was 
a Manager at Punongbayan & Araullo (the Philippine member firm of Grant Thornton International 
Ltd.). Mr. Tabanera is a Certified Public Accountant and also passed the examination for Certified 
Internal Audit (CIA) and for Certified Information Systems Audit (CISA). He received his Bachelor 
of Science Degree in Accountancy from Holy Name University of Tagbilaran. 
 
Mr. Leo I. Posadas is the Treasurer of LEC and CMTS Business Units since May 29, 2017 and is 
concurrently the Treasurer of the PLDT Group and concurrent Treasury Head of PLDT and Smart. He 
also handles the treasury management and treasury operations of several companies under the PLDT 
Group. He is a director and Chief Financial Officer of PLDT Global Corporation, a director and 
Treasurer of PLDT Global Investments Holdings, a director of PLDT Communication and Energy 
Ventures, a director of Philstar and Businessworld, a director and Vice President for Treasury of 
Mabuhay Investments Corporation, and the Treasurer of the Vega Telecom group. He is also the 
Treasurer of Smart, ePLDT, Digitel Mobile, PLDT-Smart Foundation and several other subsidiaries 
of PLDT and Smart. Prior to joining PLDT in September 2000, he served as Treasury Manager of 
Total Petroleum Philippines, and as Manager for Foreign Exchange Management of San Miguel 
Corporation. Mr. Posadas received his Bachelor of Arts Degree in Economics and Bachelor of 
Science Degree in Commerce Major in Management of Financial Institutions from the De La Salle 
University. 
 
Alex Erlito S. Fider is the Corporate Secretary of LEC and CMTS Business Units since                           
January 27, 2014. He is currently a senior partner of Picazo Buyco Tan Fider & Santos Law Offices. 
Atty. Fider is a corporate legal practitioner with expertise in the fields of telecommunications, real 
estate, corporate finance and investments. He is a director of Roxas Holdings, Inc. and a member of 
the Audit & Risk Committee. He is the Corporate Secretary of Metro Pacific Tollways Corporation, 
Metro Pacific Tollways Development Corporation, Manila North Tollways Corporation, Tollways 
Management Corporation, Smart and Maynilad. He is actively involved in the Financial Executive 
Institute of the Philippines and the Institute of the Corporate Directors of which he is a Fellow. Atty. 
Fider graduated from the University of the Philippines with Degrees in Economics and Law. 
 
Significant Employees 
  
Digitel has no employee who is not an executive officer but is expected to make a significant 
contribution to the business. 
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Family Relationships 
 
None of the Directors, key officers and advisors of Digitel has any family relationship up to the fourth 
civil degree either by consanguinity or affinity.  

Legal Proceedings  
 
Digitel is not aware, and none of the directors/independent directors and officers or persons 
nominated for election to such positions has informed the company, of any of the following events 
that occurred during the past five years: 
 
(a) any bankruptcy petition filed by or against any business of which a director/independent director 

or officer or person nominated for election as a director/independent director or officer was a 
general partner or executive officer either at the time of the bankruptcy or within two years prior 
to that time;  
 

(b) any conviction by final judgment in a criminal proceeding, domestic or foreign, or any criminal 
proceeding, domestic or foreign, pending against any director/independent director or officer or 
person nominated for election as a director/independent director or officer, except as noted below;  

 
(c) any order, judgment, or decree, not subsequently reversed, suspended or vacated, of any court of 

competent jurisdiction, domestic or foreign, permanently or temporarily enjoining, barring, 
suspending or otherwise limiting the involvement of any director/independent director or officer 
or person nominated for election as a director/independent director or officer in any type of 
business, securities, commodities or banking activities; and 

 
(d) any finding by a domestic or foreign court of competent jurisdiction (in a civil action), the 

Securities and Exchange Commission or comparable foreign body, or a domestic or foreign 
exchange or electronic marketplace or self-regulatory organization, that any director/independent 
director or officer or person nominated for election as a director/independent director or officer, 
has violated a securities or commodities law or regulation, and the judgment has not been 
reversed, suspended, or vacated. 

Audit, Governance and Nomination, and Remuneration & Compensation Committees  

 
Our board of directors is authorized under the by-laws to create committees, as it may deem 
necessary.  We currently have three board committees, namely, the audit, governance and nomination 
and remuneration & compensation committees, the purpose of which is to assist our board of 
directors.  Each of these committees has a board-approved written charter that provides for such 

meetings, and reporting procedure to the board of directors. 
 
Audit Committee (AC)  

 
Our AC is composed of three members, majority of whom, including the chairperson are independent 
directors, namely, Dr. Emerlinda R. Roman (independent director) who chairs the committee, Mr. 
Oscar J. Hilado (independent director) and Mr. Lorenzo Tan.  All of the members of our AC are 
financially literate. On April 4, 2023, the Board adopted a New Audit Committee Charter. 

 
Further to our compliance with applicable corporate governance laws and rules, our AC confirmed in 
its report for 2024 that: 
  
 Each voting member of the Audit Committee is an independent director as determined by the 

Board of Directors; 
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The Audit Committee had nine (9) regular joint meetings with the Audit Committees of PLDT
Inc. (PLDT) and Smart Communications, Inc. (Smart) during the year;

The Audit Committee has reviewed and approved the revised Audit Committee Charter, subject
to final approval and adoption by the Board;

-based annual
plan for their regular audits, including updates thereto, and discussed the results of their
examinations;

Based on a review of SGV & performance and qualifications, including consideration of
recommendation, the Audit Committee approved the appointment of SGV &

Co. as the independent auditor;

The Audit Committee have discussed with SGV & Co. the overall scope and plan for their
integrated audit of Digitel financial statements and internal controls over external
financial reporting, and the results of their examinations;

The Audit Committee have discussed with SGV & Co. the matters required to be discussed under the
applicable Auditing Standard. I t  has received written disclosures and the letter from SGV &
Co. as required by the applicable Independence Standards (Statement as to Independence) and
has discussed with SGV & Co. its independence from the Digitel Management;

The Audit Committee were apprised of updates on enterprise risk management and major risk
exposures and mitigations through their attendance in the meetings of the Risk Committee, from
which they are also members.

The Audit Committee has discussed with the Chief Legal Counsel, Regulatory and Tax Management
Heads, significant legal matters and updates on the compliance with regulations and
applicable laws.

The Audit Committee has discussed with relevant Business Unit heads the status of their
initiatives to address key audit observations and other significant updates on their areas.

In the performance of oversight responsibilities, the Audit Committee reviewed and discussed the
unaudited quarterly financial statements and reports in the first three quarters of 2024 and
the audited financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2024 with
Management, which has the primary responsibility for the financial statements, and with SGV &
Co., the Digitel independent auditor, who is responsible for expressing an opinion on
the conformity of the Digitel audited financial statements with Philippine Financial
Reporting Standards (PFRS Accounting Standards).

Governance and Nomination Committee (GNC)

Our GNC is composed of three members, namely, Mr. Oscar J. Hilado (independent director) who is 
the chairman of the committee and Mr. Manuel V. Pangilinan and Dr. Emerlinda R. Roman 
(independent director), as members. 

The principal functions and responsibilities of our GNC are:

1. To review and evaluate the qualifications of the persons nominated for election as directors
(including independent directors) or other positions requiring board appointment;
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2. To identify the qualified nominees and recommend that the board select and recommend such 
qualified nominees for election as directors/independent directors at the annual meeting of 
shareholders; and 

 
3. 

appointing new directors or members of the board committees. 
 
Remuneration & Compensation Committee (RCC) 

 
Our RCC is composed of three members, namely Mr. Manuel V. Pangilinan who is the chairman of 
this committee and Mr. Oscar J. Hilado and Dr. Emerlinda R. Roman (both independent directors) as 
members.   

 
The principal functions and responsibilities of our RCC are: 
 

1. To provide guidance to and assist our board of directors in developing a compensation 
philosophy or policy consistent with our culture, strategy and control environment; 

 
2. To oversee the development and administration of our compensation programs; and 

 
3. To review and approve corporate goals and objectives relevant to the compensation of our 

CEO, evaluate the performance of our CEO in light of those goals and objectives, and set the 
compensation level of our CEO based on such evaluation. 

 
Item 10.  Executive Compensation 
 
The following table is the list of the key officers, including the chief executive officer, and directors 
of Digitel as at March 25, 2025: 

 
Name Position 

Manuel V. Pangilinan Chairman of the Board  CMTS/LEC 
Alfredo S. Panlilio Director  CMTS/LEC 
Danny Y. Yu Director  CMTS/LEC; Chief Financial Officer - CMTS 
Oscar J. Hilado  Director  Independent - LEC 
Emerlinda R. Roman  Director  Independent - LEC 
Lorenzo V. Tan Director  CMTS/LEC 
Jerone H. Tabanera Chief Financial Officer LEC 
Leo I. Posadas Treasurer  CMTS/LEC 
Alex Erlito S. Fider Corporate Secretary  CMTS/LEC 

 
Each of the independent and non-management directors of the Parent Company is entitled to a 

P=50,000 for each meeting of the Board of Directors attended.  In addition, the 
independent directors and non-management directors who serve in the Audit Committee of the Board 
of Directors are entitled to a fee of P=30,000 for each meeting attended.  Regular directors are not 

 
 
There are no special arrangements for officers of the registrant.  Officers are given the same 
compensation package as rank-and-file employees such as monthly salary and 13th month bonus. 
 
There are no special employment contracts with executive officers.  Hiring of corporate officers are 
conducted based on general policies on recruitment. 
 
There is no compensatory act other than the legally mandated retirement plan under the Social 
Security Act. 
 
  



 

36 
 

Item 11. Security Ownership of Certain Record and Beneficial Owners and Security 
Ownership of  Management 
 
A.  Security Ownership of Certain Record and Beneficial Owners  
 
Owner of more than 5% of  securities, as of March 25, 2025 is as follows:  

 

Title  

of Class 

Name and Address 

 of Record Owner and Relationship 

with the Issuer 

Name of Beneficial  

Owner and Relationship 

with Record Owner Citizenship 

Number of 

Shares Held 

Record 

 

Percentage  

of Class 

Common PLDT Inc. 1 

12th Floor Ramon Cojuangco Bldg. 

Makati Avenue, Makati City 

PLDT Inc. 

 

Filipino 26,043,279,329 99.62 

 1   PLDT is the parent company of Digitel. PLDT is the leading telecommunications provider in the Philippines. Through its three principal 
business segments  wireless, fixed line and others - PLDT offers a large and diverse range of telecommunications services across the 

ve fiber optic backbone and wireless and fixed line networks. 
 
B.  Security Ownership of Management 
 
As of March 25, 2025, the security ownership of Directors and Executive officers of Digitel follows: 
 

Name of Record and Address Citizenship 

Title of 

Class 

Number of 

shares 

Amount of 

Holdings 

Percentage 

of Class 

    (Based on par value)  

Manuel V. Pangilinan Filipino Common 10 P=1 0.000000 
Chairman of the Board      
7/F Ramon Cojuangco Bldg.,      
Makati Avenue, Makati City      
      
Alfredo S. Panlilio Filipino Common 10   1 0.000000 
Director      
7/F Ramon Cojuangco Bldg.,      
Makati Avenue, Makati City      
      
Danny Y. Yu Filipino Common 10 1 0.000000 
Director      
St. Francis Shangri-la Place Tower 2      
St. Francis, Mandaluyong City      
      
Oscar J. Hilado Filipino Common 10 1 0.000000 
Director      
Phinma Building      
Rockwell, Makati City      
      
Emerlinda R. Roman Filipino Common 10 1 0.000000 
Director      
41 Kalaw St. Manila Homes      
Congressional Ave.,       
Quezon City      
      
Lorenzo V. Tan Filipino Common 10 1 0.000000 
Director      
46/F Yuchengco Tower,      
RCBC Plaza, Sen G.J. Puyat Ave.,       
Makati City      
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 Item 12.  Certain Relationships and Related Transactions 
 

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly and indirectly, to control the 
other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating 
decisions. Parties are also considered to be related if they are subject to common control.  Related 

length basis, similar to transactions with third parties. 
 
Settlement of outstanding balances of related party transactions at year-end are expected to be settled 
with cash.  The Digitel Group has not recorded any impairment of receivables relating to amounts 
owed by related parties as at December 31, 2024 and 2023.  This assessment is undertaken each 
financial year through examining the financial position of the related party and the market in which 
the related party operates.  
 
For a detailed discussion of material related party transactions, refer to Note 20  Related Party 
Transactions to the accompanying audited consolidated financial statements in Item 7. 

 
 

 
PART IV- CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

 
Item 13.  Corporate Governance 
 
The level of compliance of Digitel to the provisions of the Code of Corporate Governance for Public 
Companies and Registered Issuers for the period beginning January 1 to December 31, 2024 will be 
reported in the Certification to be submitted to the SEC on or before June 30, 2025. 

 
To improve the corporate governance of Digitel, the Company adopted a new Manual on Corporate 
Governance on June 9, 2020 which substantially adopted all of the recommendations under SEC 
Memorandum Circular No. 24, series of 2019, otherwise known as the Code of Corporate Governance 

Manual on Corporate Governance was submitted to the SEC on September 29, 2020.  The Board of 
Directors also approved the following corporate governance policies: (a) Code of Business Conduct 
and Ethics (2024); (b) Conflict of Interest Policy; (c) Whistleblowing Policy; (d) Gifts, Entertainment 
and Sponsored Travel Policy; (e) Supplier/Contractor Relations Policy; and (f) Third-party Business 
Partners Corporate Governance Guidelines.  
 
On November 9, 2018, the Board of Directors also approved the Policy on Gift-Giving Activities. 

  
Digitel, through its Compliance Officer, continues to periodically benchmark its corporate governance 
with its peers in the industry. 
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PART V- EXHIBITS AND SCHEDULES

Item 14.  Exhibits and Reports on SEC Form 17-C

(a)  Exhibits - See accompanying Index to Exhibits.

(b)  Reports on SEC Form 17-C

We reported the following items on SEC Form 17-C in 2024:

Items Reported Date Filed
I. Board meeting held on March 21, 2024

Approved to hold its Annual Meeting of Stockholders on May 27,
2024 via remote communication through Microsoft Teams (MS
Teams) and set March 31, 2024 as the record date for the
determination of stockholders entitled to notice and to vote during
the Annual Meeting

March 22, 2024

II. Annual Stockholders meeting held on May 27, 2024

Results of Annual Meeting of Shareholders
Results of Organizational Meeting of the Board of Directors
including appointment of Chairpersons and Members of Board
Committees and officers of the Company

May 28, 2024
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DIGITAL TELECOMMUNICATIONS PHILS., INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULES

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Independent Auditors Report
Statement of Financial Position as at December 31, 2024

(With Comparative Figures as at December 31, 2023)
Statement of Comprehensive Income for the Year Ended December 31, 2024

(With Comparative Figures for the Years Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022)
Statement of Changes in Equity for the Year Ended December 31, 2024

(With Comparative Figures for the Years Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022)
Statement of Cash Flows for the Year Ended December 31, 2024

(With Comparative Figures for the Years Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022)
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULES 

Report of Independent Auditors on Supplementary Schedules 
A. Financial Assets 
B.    Amounts Receivable from Directors, Officers, Employees, 

and Principal Stockholders (Other than Related Parties) 
C. Amounts Receivable from Related Parties which are eliminated during the consolidation

of Financial Statements
D.   Intangible Assets (not applicable)
E. Long-Term Debt (not applicable)
F. Indebtedness to Related Parties 
G. Capital Stock
H. Reconciliation of Retained Earnings Available for Dividend Declaration
I. Map of Relationships of the Companies within the Group
J.     Financial Soundness Indicator
K. Supplementary Schedule of External Auditor-Fee Related Information
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DIGITAL TELECOMMUNICATIONS PHILS., INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Schedule A. Financial Assets 

December 31, 2024

Name of Issuing Entity and
Associaton on each issue

Number
of Shares

Amount Shown in the 
Balance Sheet

Value based on Market Quotation 
at Balance Sheet Date

Income received 
and accrued

(In millions)

Smart N/A P=1,499 N/A P=191
P=1,499 P=191
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DIGITAL TELECOMMUNICATIONS PHILS., INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Schedule B. Amounts Receivable from Directors, Officers, Employees,

Principal Stockholders (other than Related Parties)
December 31, 2024

Balance at 
Beginning of Period Additions

Amounts 
Collected

Balance at  
End of Period

(In millions)

Dalipe, S. P=1.3   P=-   P=- P=1.3
P=1.3 P=- P=- P=1.3
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DIGITAL TELECOMMUNICATIONS PHILS., INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Schedule C. Amounts Receivable from Related Parties

which are eliminated during the consolidation of Financial Statements
December 31, 2024

Balance at 
Beginning of Period Additions

Amounts 
Collected

Balance at  
End of Period

(In millions)

Digitel Mobile Philippines., Inc. P=- P=- P=- P=-
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DIGITAL TELECOMMUNICATIONS PHILS., INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Schedule F. Indebtedness to Related Parties

December 31, 2024

Balance at 
Beginning of Period

Balance at  
End of Period

(In millions)

PLDT Inc. P=15,289 P=13,102
Smart Communications Inc. - -
ePDS, Inc. - -

P=15,289 P=13,102
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DIGITAL TELECOMMUNICATIONS PHILS., INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
Schedule G. Capital Stock 

  December 31, 2024 
 

   Number of Shares Held By 

Title of Issue 

Number of 
Shares 

Authorized 

Shares Issued 
and 

Outstanding Related Parties 

Directors, 
Officers and 

Employees Others 
 (In millions) 

      
Common Shares 29,500 26,142 26,043  99 
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DIGITAL TELECOMMUNICATIONS PHILS., INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Schedule H.  Reconciliation of Retained Earnings Available for Dividend Declaration

December 31, 2024

Amounts
(In millions)

nappropriated retained earnings available 
for dividend declaration as at January 1, 2024 P=13,645

Add: Net income actually earned/realized in 2024
Net income P=2,232
Less: Unrealized foreign exchange gain net (except cash 

and cash equivalents) 2,232
Less: Dividends declared during the year

nappropriated retained earnings available 
for declaration as at December 31, 2024 P=15,877
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DIGITAL TELECOMMUNICATIONS PHILS., INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Schedule I.  Map of Relationships of the Companies within the Group

December 31, 2024

1 On March 5, 2012, the BOD approved the closure of DITSI through the shortening of its corporate life until June 30, 2013.

Digitel Mobile 
Philippines, Inc.          

100%

Digitel 
Information 
Technology 

Services (DITSI), 
Inc. 1

100%

PLDT

Digital
Telecommunications 

Phils., Inc.          
99.6%
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DIGITAL TELECOMMUNICATIONS PHILS., INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Schedule J.  Financial Soundness Indicators

December 31, 2024 and 2023

2024 2023

Current Ratio(1) 0.21:1.0 0.15:1.0
Net Cash to Equity Ratio(2) 0.01:1.0 0.01:1.0
Asset to Equity Ratio(3) (0.57):1.0 (0.42):1.0
Interest Coverage Ratio(4) 63.55:1.0 76.15:1.0
Profit Margin Ratio(5) 41% 53%
Return on Assets(6) 46% 72%
EBITDA Margin(7) 53% 58%

_____________
(1) Current ratio is measured as current assets divided by current liabilities.
(2) Net cash to equity ratio is measured as total debt (long term debt, including current portion and notes payable) less cash and cash 

equivalent and short term investments divided by total equity.
(3) Asset to equity ratio is measured as total assets divided by total equity.
(4) Interest coverage ratio is measured by EBIT, or earnings before interest and taxes, divided by total financing cost
(5) Profit margin ratio is derived by dividing net income with total revenues.
(6) Return on assets is derived by dividing net income with total assets.
(7) EBITDA margin is measured as EBITDA divided by service revenues. EBITDA is measured as net income excluding depreciation,, 

financing cost, interest income, foreign exchange gains (losses) net, provision for (benefit from) income tax and other income net.
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DIGITAL TELECOMMUNICATIONS PHILS., INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Schedule K.  Supplementary Schedule of External Auditor-Fee Related Information

December 31, 2024 and 2023

2024 2023

(In millions)

Total Audit Fees P=1.2 P=1.2
- -

Non audit service fees:
  Other Assurance Services - -
  Tax Services - -
  All other services - -

Total Non-audit fees - -

Total Audit and Non-audit fees P=1.2 P=1.2
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From: PADIZ, Ofelia O.
To: BABAN, Jennifer B.; CASTUERA, Catherine M.
Subject: FW: Your BIR AFS eSubmission uploads were received
Date: Friday, April 25, 2025 3:26:30 PM

Fyirp
Thank you

From: eafs@bir.gov.ph <eafs@bir.gov.ph> 
Sent: Friday, April 25, 2025 9:01 AM
To: PADIZ, Ofelia O. <oportiz@pldt.com.ph>
Cc: PADIZ, Ofelia O. <oportiz@pldt.com.ph>
Subject: Your BIR AFS eSubmission uploads were received

Hi DIGITAL TELECOMMUNICATIONS PHILS., INC.,

Valid files

EAFS000449918OTHTY122024.pdf
EAFS000449918AFSTY122024.pdf
EAFS000449918ITRTY122024.pdf

Invalid file

<None>

Transaction Code: AFS-0-B6EHGLB07DE797JFMRX4SZSM09LGLJFC5
Submission Date/Time: Apr 25, 2025 09:00 AM
Company TIN: 000-449-918

Please be reminded that you accepted the terms and conditions for the use of this
portal and expressly agree, warrant and certify that:

The submitted forms, documents and attachments are complete, truthful and
correct based on the personal knowledge and the same are from authentic
records;
The submission is without prejudice to the right of the BIR to require additional
document, if any, for completion and verification purposes;
The hard copies of the documents submitted through this facility shall be
submitted when required by the BIR in the event of audit/investigation and/or for
any other legal purpose.

This is a system-generated e-mail. Please do not reply.
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